



MINUTES

Ordinary Council Meeting Wednesday, 24 June 2020

Date: Wednesday, 24 June 2020

Time: 5:30pm

Location: Civic Centre

McGregor St Port Hedland

Distribution Date: 6 July 2020

DISCLAIMER

No responsibility whatsoever is implied or accepted by the Town of Port Hedland for any act, omission, statement or intimation occurring during Council Meetings. The Town of Port Hedland disclaims any liability for any loss whatsoever and howsoever caused arising out of reliance by any person or legal entity on any such act, omission, and statement of intimation occurring during Council Meetings. Any person or legal entity that acts or fails to act in reliance upon any statement, act or omission occurring in a Council Meeting does so at their own risk. The Town of Port Hedland advises that any person or legal entity should only rely on formal confirmation or notification of Council resolutions.

Order Of Business

Item 1	Opening of Meeting 5		
Item 2	Acknowledgement of Traditional Owners and Dignitaries	5	
Item 3	Recording of Attendance	5	
3.1	Attendance	5	
3.2	Attendance by Telephone / Instantaneous Communications	5	
3.3	Apologies	5	
3.4	Approved Leave of Absence	5	
3.5	Disclosure of Interests	5	
Item 4	Applications for Leave of Absence	6	
Item 5	Response to Previous Questions	6	
Item 6	Public Time	6	
6.1	Public Question Time	6	
	6.1.1 Mr Scott Lowe	6	
6.2	Public Statement Time	7	
	6.2.1 Mr Arnold Carter	7	
	6.2.2 Mr Scott Lowe	7	
6.3	Petitions/Deputations/Presentations/Submissions	7	
Item 7	Questions from Members without Notice	8	
Item 8	Announcements by Presiding Member without Discussion	8	
Item 9	Declarations of All Members to Have Given Due Consideration to All Matters Contained in the Business Paper before the Meeting	8	
Item 10	Confirmation of Minutes of Previous Meeting	9	
Item 11	Reports of Officers	10	
11.1	Corporate Services	10	
	11.1.1 Western Australian Local Government Association (WALGA) - Request for a variation to the Trust Deed for the Local Government House Trust	10	
	11.1.2 Port Hedland Yacht Club and T.S. Pilbara leases	15	
	11.1.3 Statement of Financial Activity for the period ended 30 April 2020	19	
11.2	Community Services	24	
	11.2.1 Marapikurrinya 'pop ups' (food containers)	24	
11.3	Regulatory Services	30	
	11.3.1 Development Application 2020/055 - Telecommunication Infrastructure - Lot 5769 (150) Anderson Street	30	

	11.3.2 Consideration of Response to Western Australian Planning Commission on draft Port Hedland West End Improvement Scheme No. 1	40
	11.3.3 Proposed Scheme Amendment No. 84 - Reclassification/Rezoning of land bound by Styles Road, Pretty Pool Creek, Cooke Point Road from 'Parks and Recreation', 'Rural' and 'Public Purposes: Energy' to 'Urban Development'	47
	11.3.4 Workforce Accommodation and Social Impact Assessment planning framework	54
11.4	Infrastructure Services	65
	11.4.1 Proposed Adoption of Revised Policy 9/004 'Pre-Cyclone Green Waste Collection'	65
	11.4.2 Continuation of Contract for RFT2017-14 South Hedland Integrated Sporting Precint: Architect Brief	69
tem 12	Reports of Committees	75
12.1	Strategy Committee	75
	12.1.1 Strategic Community Plan Minor Review and Corporate Business Plan Annual Review	75
tem 13	Motions of which Previous Notice has been given	79
tem 14	New Business of an Urgent Nature (Late items)	79
14.1	Adoption of 2020/21 Rating Strategy & Adoption of the 2020/21 Annual Budget	80
tem 15	Matters for Which Meeting May Be Closed (Confidential Matters)	94
tem 16	Closure	94
16.1	Date of Next Meeting	94
16.2	Closure	94

Item 1 Opening of Meeting

The Commissioner declared the meeting open at 5:30pm.

Item 2 Acknowledgement of Traditional Owners and Dignitaries

The Commissioner acknowledged the Kariyarra people as the Traditional Custodians of this land, on whose land we met, and recognised their strength and resilience, and paid his respects to Elders past, present and emerging.

The Commissioner acknowledged the Honorary Freeman of Port Hedland, Mr Arnold Carter.

Item 3 Recording of Attendance

3.1 Attendance

Scheduled Present: Commissioner Fredrick Riebeling AM JP Scheduled for Attendance: Carl Askew (Chief Executive Officer)

Anthea Bird (Director Corporate Services)
Craig Watts (Director Regulatory Services)
Lee Furness (Director Infrastructure Services)
Josephine Bianchi (Director Community Services)
Angelique Cook (Senior Governance Advisor)
Nicki Thomas (Governance Officer / Minute Taker)

Staff: 7
Public: 3
Media: 0

(Council meetings are currently restricted to a maximum of 100 people in attendance, due to a public health state of emergency [COVID-19]).

3.2 Attendance by Telephone / Instantaneous Communications

Nil.

3.3 Apologies

Nil.

3.4 Approved Leave of Absence

Nil.

3.5 Disclosure of Interests

Nil.

Item 4 Applications for Leave of Absence

Nil.

Item 5 Response to Previous Questions

Nil.

Item 6 Public Time

Important note:

'This meeting is being recorded on audio tape and streamed live online as an additional record of the meeting and to assist with minute-taking purposes which may be released upon request to third parties. If you do not give permission for recording your participation please indicate this at the meeting. The public is reminded that in accordance with Section 6.16 of the Town of Port Hedland Local Law on Standing Orders nobody shall use any visual or vocal electronic device or instrument to record the proceedings of any meeting unless that person has been given permission by the chairperson to do so. Members of the public are also reminded that in accordance with section 6.17(4) of the Town of Port Hedland Local Law on Standing Orders mobile telephones must be switched off and not used during the meeting.'

In accordance with section 6.7(3) of the Town of Port Hedland Local Law on Standing Orders, members of the public are required to complete a question form and place the completed form in the tray provided.

If the Presiding Member determines that questions and statements are out of order due to the use of an offensive or objectionable expression or are defamatory, they will not be recorded or responded to.

6.1 Public Question Time

The Commissioner declared Public Question Time open at 5:34pm.

6.1.1 Mr Scott Lowe

The adoption of the 2020/21 Rating strategy and Budget has been added to tonight's agenda as a late agenda item. I understand the agenda for tonight's meeting was available online as of Monday afternoon. The additional link titled Late Item 14.1 Adoption of 2020/21 Rating Strategy & Adoption of the 2020/21 Annual Budget was added to the TOPH website at a later point.

What is the reason an item as important as the annual budget been added as a late item and initially without any detail? Thank you.

The Commissioner advised that it is his understanding that this is the meeting where the budget would normally be presented and that a significant amount of work was required to get the document to this meeting and that was the delay. The vast majority of the document was ready, however it required a finalisation on a number of issues.

The Commissioner declared Public Question Time closed at 5:35pm.

6.2 Public Statement Time

The Commissioner declared Public Statement Time open at 5:35pm.

6.2.1 Mr Arnold Carter

I have had the opportunity to discuss budget estimates with the Town Council over the last forty years (with one exception). I find it absurd that a budget be accepted without any reference to the Rate Payers for consultation and comment. I received my copy at 3.30pm on Tuesday 23 June 2020. There is no way I could substantiate questions before the acceptance by the Commissioner at the meeting tonight, unless he adjourned same. When I perused the budget and noted an expenditure of \$86,246,017, I was absolutely stunned, particularly when I noticed some of the proposed expenditure, for instance where is the \$7,750,000 transfer from the PHIA [Port Hedland International Airport] reserve being spent, and shows no indication of where it is being spent. Hoping I will not see a repetition of the fiasco we had with the Gratwick Swimming Pool during last financial year. Another concern I have is with the recent tender acceptance for the cleaning of public ablutions for \$855,805.43, which was in some instances \$400,000 to \$500,000 below the accepted tender in your evaluation assessment, the value considerations highlighted the criteria, including value for money, not very conductive of the Rate Payer money. I note with interest your comments in the last paragraph documents, in your aims and objectives, the main conceptional word missing is communication. Thank you.

The Commissioner queried whether Mr Carter wanted his Statement changed to a Question, to which Mr Carter responded in the affirmative. The Commissioner confirmed that Mr Carter would be provided with a written response.

6.2.2 Mr Scott Lowe

The ability for community members to come to this Chamber, ask questions and make statements in this forum, is an important part of the local government process. This is true more so now than ever without elected officials that community members can easily access to represent their interests. Sliding rating and budget items in as a last-minute agenda item, such that we have limited opportunity to consider it ahead of a council meeting, largely denies us that opportunity and is highly disappointing. Thank you.

The Commissioner declared Public Statement Time closed at 5:38pm.

6.3 Petitions/Deputations/Presentations/Submissions

Nil.

Item 7 Questions from Members without Notice

Nil.

Item 8 Announcements by Presiding Member without Discussion

The Commissioner's meetings for the month of May 2020:

Date	Meeting	Topic	
05/05/20	Meeting with Minister MacTiernan	Discussions around Spoilbank Marina and West End Buy Back	
		Scheme	
05/05/20	Weekly Talk of Town radio segment	Weekly Radio Interview	
06/05/20	Meeting with Minister Templeman	Discussions around Rates and	
		changes to the LG Act	
06/05/20	Meeting with Minister Ellery	Discussions around old TAFE site	
12/05/20	Weekly Talk of Town radio segment	Weekly Radio Interview	
18/05/20	Official Opening Port Hedland Library	Official Opening	
19/05/20	Weekly Talk of Town radio segment	Weekly Radio Interview	
21/05/20	RCAWA Meeting	General catch up meeting	
22/05/20	Meeting with Roy Hill	General catch up meeting	
27/05/20	May Ordinary Council Meeting	As per agenda on the Town's	
		website	
28/05/20	Meet with Hedland Mobile	On-site meeting - general catch	
	Windscreens	up	
28/05/20	Hedland Collective meeting	General business	
29/05/20	Department of Communities meeting	General update meeting	
29/05/20	Hedland Community Road Safety	General discussions around road	
	meeting	safety matters in Port Hedland	

Item 9 Declarations of All Members to Have Given Due Consideration to All Matters Contained in the Business Paper before the Meeting

The Commissioner declared that he had given due consideration to all matters contained in the agenda.

Item 10 Confirmation of Minutes of Previous Meeting

Disclaimer

Members of the public are cautioned against taking any action on Council decisions, on items on this evening's Agenda in which they may have an interest, until formal notification in writing by the Town has been received. Decisions made at this meeting can be revoked, pursuant to the Local Government Act 1995.

CM201920/245 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council confirm that the Minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on Wednesday 27 May 2020 are a true and correct record.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

Item 11 Reports of Officers

11.1 Corporate Services

11.1.1 WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION (WALGA) - REQUEST FOR A VARIATION TO THE TRUST DEED FOR THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT HOUSE TRUST

Author: Senior Governance Advisor Authorising Officer: Director Corporate Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

This item is to vary the Trust Deed on the Local Government House Trust, at the request of the Board of Management.

The Trust was created in 1980 for the purpose of housing WALGA. The Town of Port Hedland holds eight (8) units in the Trust, which are worth approximately \$142,000 and for the proposed changes to occur, at least 75% of all unit holders need to agree to those changes.

Since 2014, the Trust has provided WALGA with accommodation at 170 Railway Parade, West Leederville. The current Deed was created in 1993 and was amended in 2002, to reflect the merger of the Metropolitan & Country Association into WALGA. The current Deed expires in 2072.

The aim of this variation is:

- 1. To assist the Trusts' income tax exemption status, by strengthening the position of the Trust, as a State or Territory body;
- 2. Removes the Trustee's powers to retire or appoint new Trustees;
- 3. Allows the beneficiaries to appoint and remove Trustees; and
- 4. Ensures the Board is the governing body of the Trust.

Chief Executive Officer highlighted key points of the Officer's Report.

The Commissioner supported the Recommendation in relation to this item.

CM201920/246 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council:

- 1. Advise the Local Government House Trust Board of Management that the Town of Port Hedland, as a holder of eight (8) Local Government House Trust units, consents to the Deed of Variation, as detailed in Attachment 1; and
- 2. Authorises the Chief Executive Officer to communicate this consent in writing to the Western Australian Local Government Association (WALGA).

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider consenting to a variation to the Trust Deed for the Local Government House Trust.

DETAIL

The Local Government House Trust (the Trust) is a unit trust that was created in 1980, for the purpose of housing the Western Australian Local Government Association (WALGA). The Town of Port Hedland (Town) is a unit holder and beneficiary to the Local Government House Trust, holding eight (8) units, as advised in WALGA's recent Quarterly Report Q4 2019.

On 19 February 2020, the Chief Executive Officer of WALGA corresponded with every Local Government holding Trust units. The purpose of the correspondence was to advise that the Trust's Board of Management are seeking to vary the Trust Deed in order to assist the Trust's income exempt status. As stipulated by the Deed, the Trust requires consent of at least 75 per cent of all beneficiaries in order to execute this variation. As a beneficiary, the Town is requested to consent to the Deed of Variation (Attachment 1) supported by a resolution of Council.

Further details on the particular Deed Variations and objectives to be achieved by this variation are outlined below.

Background on the Local Government House Trust

The Trust exists primarily to provide building accommodation for the Western Australian Local Government Association. Since January 2014, the Trust has provided WALGA with accommodation at 170 Railway Parade West Leederville.

The current Trust Deed commenced in 1993 and was amended in 2002 to reflect the merger of the metropolitan and country associations into WALGA. The current Trust Deed pronounces WALGA as Trustee and unit holders as Beneficiaries, with the Trustee holding property and associated monies "upon Trust" and in proportion to the units provided.

Commencement date of the current deed is 17 February 1993, with a vesting date 79 years from commencement - which means that the Trust ends in 2072.

The Trust is exempt from income tax on the basis of being a State / Territory Body (STB) pursuant to Division 1AB of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936.

Trust Deed Variation

Trust Deed amendments set out in the Deed of Variation are based on legal advice and are intended to assist the Trust's income tax exempt status by strengthening the position that the Trust is a State / Territory Body (STB).

Legal advice identified that the Trustee's ability to retire and appoint a new Trustee might affect the Trust's classification as a State or Territory Body (STB). This view, while based upon highly technical grounds, is a risk nonetheless.

Subsequently the Deed of Variation aims to strengthen the position that the Trust is a STB through the following amendments:

- 1. removing the existing Trustee's power to retire and appoint a new Trustee (Clause 2.1 and 2.2 (22.3) of the Deed of Variation);
- 2. enabling the beneficiaries to appoint and remove a Trustee (Clause 2.2 (22.4) of the Deed of Variation); and
- 3. ensuring that the Board of Management is the 'governing body' of the Trust (Clause 2.3 of the Deed of Variation).

The three proposed amendments when applied to the relevant clauses inserted by the Deed of Variation dated 5 June 2002 will subsequently read as follows (proposed amendments shown in red text):

1.	Variation 2.1 amends clause 22.1 to point to additional clause:		
	22.1 Any Trustee of the Trust may retire as Trustee of the Trust. The Subject to clause 22.3, the right to appoint any new or additional trustee or trustees of the Trust is hereby vested in the retiring or continuing trustee. A corporation or incorporated association may be appointed as Trustee of the Trust.		
2.	Variation 2.2 inserts two new clauses:		
	22.3 The retiring or continuing trustee shall only be entitled to appoint any new or additional trustee of the Trust with the consent of not less than 75% of the Beneficiaries.		
	22.4 The Beneficiaries may at any time by Special Resolution:		
	(a) remove a Trustee from the office as Trustee of the Trust; and		
	(b) appoint such new or additional Trustee.		
3.	Variation 2.3 insert a new clause 13A		
	13A Delegation to the Board of Management		
	Unless the Beneficiaries otherwise direct (such direction to be given by not less		
	than 75% of the Beneficiaries), the Trustees shall delegate all of the powers authorities and discretions contained in subclauses		
	(a) to (x) of clause 12 to the Board of Management. The Trustees shall, at the direction of the Board of Management, do such things as may be necessary		

to give effect to the exercise of a power, authority or discretion by the Board of Management.

Comment

The first two amendments outlined above remove powers granted to the Trustee in the 2002 Deed Variation resulting from the merger to a single Association representing WA Local Governments. These amendments which previously facilitated the transfer of trusteeship to the then new Western Australian Local Government Association are removed, but with the clarification that any appointment must be with the consent of the beneficiaries.

The final amendment intends to confirm that power rests with the Board of Management. As the Board of Management comprises Local Governments, this satisfies the requirements of a STB for tax purposes. This amendment reflects the actual operation of the Trustee in implementing the decisions of the Board of Management whilst retaining sufficient operational discretion to place and renew investments and pay suppliers.

These amendments provide greater power to beneficiaries through the Board of Management, and as such it is anticipated they will be considered acceptable.

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of low significance, because it will not significantly impact the community or have any significant financial implications at present.

CONSULTATION

Internal

• Executive Leadership Team

External Agencies

• This report was written in consultation with the Western Australian Local Government Association (WALGA) Chief Executive Officer.

Community

Nil

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The Local Government Act 1995 enables the Town of Port Hedland to exist as an entity.

WALGA is the peak representative body for Western Australian Local Government and is funded by Western Australian Local Governments.

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial and resource implications associated with this agenda item.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no relevant sections of the Town's Strategic Community Plan applicable to this item.

There are no significant identifiable environmental, social or economic impacts relating to this item.

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

There is a reputational risk associated with this item because of the public's perception if the Town chooses not to consent to the variation to the Trust Deed, as the amendments provide greater power to the beneficiaries through the Board of Management. The risk rating is considered to be low (1), which is determined by a likelihood of rare (1) and a consequence of insignificant (1). This risk will be eliminated by the adoption of the officer's recommendation.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

Option 2 – Amend officer's recommendation

Option 3 – Do not adopt officer's recommendation

CONCLUSION

It is recommended that the Town consent to a variation to the Trust Deed for the Local Government House Trust (The Trust) as detailed in the Attachment 1. The Trust Deed amendments as proposed are based on legal opinion and are designed to fortify the Trust's position of income tax exempt status by removing any questionable matters from the Trust Deed.

ATTACHMENTS

- 1. Deed of Variation (under separate cover)
- 2. Clause 12 of Trust Deed 1994 (under separate cover)

11.1.2 PORT HEDLAND YACHT CLUB AND T.S. PILBARA LEASES

Author: Legal Advisor

Authorising Officer: Director Corporate Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

This item is a step in the delivery of the Spoilbank Marina Project. A \$122M project that will benefit all people in Port Hedland. A new central community gathering place for Port Hedland, and boating communities, as a tourism and entertainment hub once completed. This structure will be the envy of regional WA. This has not been built in Broome, Karratha, Esperance, and Albany but in fact, right here in Port Hedland and will be a significant improvement to our facilities.

This matter involves existing leases over the area now occupied by the Port Hedland Yacht Club (PHYC) and T.S. Pilbara.

The net effect is as follows:

- 1. The new Leases are up to 21 years;
- 2. The PHYC and T.S. Pilbara currently have interests in Lots 5178, 550, 5751 on Reserve 30768;
- 3. The Town has adopted the Master Plan (in December 2019) and we now need to access to relocate marine vessels & equipment and allow physical work associated with the Marina to start;
- 4. Meetings have taken place with both bodies and the revised Lease areas agreed to with all parties;
- 5. There is a reduction in the portion in respect to existing PHYC facility. A new laydown area to the west of their lease and a new area for the Sailing Club to the north east and a licence over the shared access area; and
- 6. The T.S. Pilbara area has been reduced to allow shared access to driveways, over which it will hold a licence with the PHYC.

I thank the PHYC and T.S. Pilbara for their cooperation in this matter and the need to start the project. In time, these two groups will be the major beneficiaries of this project.

Director Regulatory Services highlighted key points of the Officer's Report.

The Commissioner supported the Recommendation in relation to this item.

CM201920/247 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council:

- Request the CEO or his delegate to enter into a community lease agreement in accordance with s3.58 of the Local Government Act 1995 with Port Hedland Yacht Club for a revised portion of Lots 5178, 5550 and 5751 Sutherland Street, Port Hedland, as depicted in Attachments 2 and 3, commencing 1 July 2020 for a term of three years, with two one year options or until such time as the marina development is substantially completed and surveyed; and
- 2. Request the CEO or his delegate enter into a community lease agreement in accordance with s3.58 of the *Local Government Act 1995* with Unit Committee T.S. Pilbara Incorporated for a revised portion of Lots 5178 and 5550 Sutherland Street, Port Hedland, as depicted in Attachment 4, commencing 1 July 2020 for a term of three years, with two one year options or until such time as the marina development is substantially completed and surveyed.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider entering new leases incorporating revised lease areas with the Port Hedland Yacht Club (PHYC) and Unit Committee T.S. Pilbara Incorporated (T.S. Pilbara) to enable the Spoilbank marina development.

DETAIL

Crown Reserve 30768 is placed under the care, control and management of the Town, by way of a management order, with the purpose of recreation. The Town has the power to lease any portion of the reserve, for any term not exceeding 21 years, subject to the Minister's approval.

PHYC and T.S. Pilbara currently have leasehold interests on portions of Lots 5178, 550 and 5751, located on Reserve 30768. Both associations' objectives are consistent with the purpose of the reserve.

As the community is well aware, last year the WA State Government committed funding to the Spoilbank Marina Development. Further, in December 2019 the Town adopted the Port Hedland Marina and Waterfront Masterplan. In order to relocate marine vessels and equipment, allow land access and enable the physical works associated with the marina development the current leased areas (depicted at Attachment 1) require adjusting.

The Town most recently met with PHYC and T.S Pilbara on 18 May 2020, where revised lease areas were agreed between the parties (see Attachments 2, 3 and 4). The PHYC leased area will include, a reduced portion in respect of the existing PHYC facility, a new laydown area to the west, a new area for the purposes of its sailing club to the north east, and a licence over the shared access area, to allow access and egress to the new laydown area. The T.S. Pilbara leased area has been reduced to allow shared access of the driveway, over which it will hold a licence in conjunction with the PHYC, but otherwise, remains the same. It was also agreed that the new leases would be for a term of three years, with two, one year options, or until such time as the marina development is substantially completed and surveyed

This item requires Council consideration of the above revised lease arrangements which have the in principle support of both lessees.

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of low significance, because all parties are in agreement – with the beneficial result of both minimal disruption to the services both lessees offer the community, and assisting the progression of the marina development.

CONSULTATION

Internal

Executive Committee, Town Planning and Development team and Legal Advisor.

External Agencies

None

Community

• Port Hedland Yacht Club (PHYC), T.S. Pilbara and Port Hedland Game Fishing Club

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

Section 3.58(5) of the *Local Government Act 1995* and regulation 30(2)(b) of the *Local Government (Functions and General) Regulation 1996* exempt both leases from the ordinary requirements of the disposal of land as both lessees are not for profit organisations with benevolent and recreational objects.

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications. Similar to the current lease arrangements, the rent for leases will be charged in accordance with the Town's Community Leasing Policy, which references the Fees and Charges for community leases currently set at \$200 per annum.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

The following sections of the Town's Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028 are applicable in the consideration of this item:

- 1.a.6 Town-wide health, safety, recreation and sporting activities and services
- 1.d.2 Facilities and community infrastructure are revitalised across the Town

Environmental

There are no significant environmental impacts relating to this item.

Economic

There are no significant economic impacts relating to this item.

Social

The revised lease areas enable both the PHYC and T.S. Pilbara to continue to operate their valuable community services during the development of the marina.

Corporate Business Plan

The following actions of the Town's Corporate Business Plan 2018-2022 apply in relation to this item:

- 1.a.4.1 support stakeholders to deliver sport and recreation activities;
- 1.d.3.1 liaise with industry, developers, business and community to provide advice from planning, building and land use matters.

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

There is a service interruption, reputational and social risk associated with this item because the marina development may be somewhat delayed if revised lease areas are not negotiated, and failure to enter leases may result in the delivery of these community services being compromised. The risk rating is considered to be medium (9), which is determined by a likelihood of possible (3) and a consequence of moderate (3).

This risk will be eliminated by the adoption of the officer's recommendation.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

Option 2 – Amend officer's recommendation

Amend the officer's recommendation to change the lease areas, term of lease, or conditions attached to those leases.

Option 3 – Do not adopt officer's recommendation

CONCLUSION

The adoption of this item will allow for the relocation of marine vessels and equipment, allow for access and the physical works associated with the marina development, whilst also allowing both PHYC and T.S Pilbara to continue to operate their valuable community services.

ATTACHMENTS

- 1. Existing leased areas (under separate cover)
- 2. PHYC proposed leased areas facility and laydown (under separate cover)
- 3. PHYC leased areas sailing club (under separate cover)
- 4. T.S.Pilbara leased area (under separate cover)

11.1.3 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITY FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 APRIL 2020

Author: Senior Financial Accountant Authorising Officer: Director Corporate Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

This is the monthly Statement of Financial activity for the period ending 30 April 2020. The purpose of the statement is to show the public what occurred financially in April of this year.

I wish to mention a few figures to show what is in fact highlighted, not because it is abnormal, yet to show how thorough our financial team are:

	Valuation	Variance %	
Operating Grants	\$1,892,521	53%	Grants arrive at different times and influenced completely by the external funding bodies. Whenever they decide to send us the cash, therefore the amount of variation is affected by the external bodies.
Interest earned	\$879,315	23%	Interest earned in relation to the Spoil bank project. The State has not called on funds from that amount we hold in our bank account, so therefore we earned extra interest in relation to the money held for the Spoilbank project.
Proceeds from Disposal	\$322,750	173%	Proceedings from disposal that is in relation to sale of staff housing.

The list of small and large variations and the explanations are given, an easy way for the public to know what is going on in relation to Council. The normal summary is that:

	2019/20 Actuals
Current Assets: Cash and Investments (including trust)	\$237.8M
Restricted Cash – Reserves	\$238.1M
Unrestricted Cash Position as at 30 April 2020	(\$767K)

I am advised that the June figure will see the negative amount back in balance.

Director Corporate Services provided an explanation for the negative unrestricted cash position.

The Commissioner supported the Recommendation in relation to this item.

CM201920/248 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council, pursuant to section 6.4 of the Local Government Act 1995:

- 1. Receive the Statement of Financial Activity for the period ended 30 April 2020;
- 2. Receive the Material Variance Report;
- 3. Note the Accounts paid under delegated authority for period ended 30 April 2020; and
- 4. Receive the Credit Card Statements for period ended 30 April 2020.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to present to Council the Statement of Financial Activity for the period ended 30 April 2020. Supplementary information is also presented to Council to provide further information regarding the Town's activities.

DETAIL

The information provided in this report is for the period ended 30 April 2020, with financial results included in *Attachment 1. Statement of Financial Activity Notes 1-11* prepared by the Town of Port Hedland (Town).

The Town's financial activity reports use a materiality threshold to measure, monitor and report on financial performance and position of the Town.

As part of the 2019/20 original budget, Council adopted the following thresholds as levels of material variances for financial reporting.

- 1. With regards to expenditure classified as capital projects, a variance of 10% or \$10,000, whichever is greater, of the year to date budget, with individual project as the level that requires explanation; and
- 2. With regards to all other items, excluding capital projects identified above, a variance of 10% or \$50,000, whichever is greater, of the year to date budget, with Nature and Type as the level that requires explanation.

Commentary is provided on variances, as detailed above, as per *Attachment 2 NOTE 12. Explanation of Material Variances*.

The opening funding surplus of \$2.5M presented in audited annual financial statements and presented in the 27 November 2019 Ordinary Council Meeting.

The net current funding position as at 30 April 2020 was \$21.1M. The breakdown of the cash position is displayed below:

	2019/20 Actuals
Current Assets: Cash and Investments (including trust)	\$237.8M
Restricted Cash – Reserves	238.1M
Unrestricted Cash Position as at 30 April 2020	(\$767K)

Previous Decisions

The Statements of Financial Activity are presented to Council each month for noting.

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of low significance, because this report is presented to Council for information purposes only.

CONSULTATION

Internal

- All consultation and engagement is conducted internally. External Agencies
- Nil

Community

Nil

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

Section 6.4 of the Local Government Act 1995 and Regulation 34 of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 detail the form and manner in which a local government is to prepare its statement of financial activity.

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

The statement of financial activity is to be supported by such information, as is considered relevant by the local government, containing:

- a. an explanation of the composition of the net current assets of the month, to which the statement relates, less committed assets and restricted assets;
- b. an explanation of each of the material variances referred to in sub-regulation (1)(d); and
- c. supporting information, as is considered relevant by the local government.

Reserves:

Ensure compliance will section 6.11 of the *Local Government Act 1995* when reserve accounts are utilised.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

The following section of the Council's *Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028* is applicable in the consideration of this item:

- 4.b.1 Sound long-term financial planning is implemented
- 4.b.2 Transparent and regular financial reporting and communication to the community is undertaken
- 4.b.3 Transparent and regular governance reporting and communication to the community is undertaken

There are no significant identifiable environmental, social or economic impacts relating to this item.

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

As per the risk matrix contained in Policy 1/022 'Risk Management', the level of risk is considered to be Medium (6).

There is a risk rating of medium (6) assigned in 2019/20 Budget to the risk that a reduction in income or increase in expense throughout the 2019/20 financial year, is likely to have an impact on the Town's ability to meet service levels or asset renewal funding requirements. The risk action plan is to monitor revenue and expenditure on a regular basis, ensure in line with budget and amend as needed.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

• Note the Statement of Financial Activity and reports for the period ended 30 April 2020 in accordance with regulation 34(1) of the Local Government (*Financial Management*) Regulations 1996.

Option 2 – Amend officer's recommendation

• That Council receive the Statement of Financial Activity for the period ended 30 April 2020 and request further information or clarification.

Option 3 – Do not adopt officer's recommendation

• That Council do not note or receive the Statement of Financial Activity for the period ended 30 April 2020.

CONCLUSION

The opening funding surplus of \$2.5M presented in YTD Actual on the Statement of Financial Activity, is as per the closing surplus presented in the FY2019 audited financial statements. The net current funding position was \$21.1M.

Variances in operating revenue and expenditure are addressed in detail in *Attachment 2 NOTE 12. Explanation of Material Variances*. The net current asset position will decrease as operating and capital budgets are expended throughout the year.

ATTACHMENTS

- 1. List of payments under delegated authority (under separate cover)
- 2. Credit Card Statement (under separate cover)
- 3. Material Variance Report (under separate cover)
- 4. Monthly Financial Statements April (under separate cover)

11.2 Community Services

11.2.1 MARAPIKURRINYA 'POP UPS' (FOOD CONTAINERS)

Author: Manager Community Development

Authorising Officer: Director Community Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

This item is in relation to activating and enhancing the West End Marapikurrinya Park, so that all residents can enjoy this BHP land.

This item lists the benefits of what is occurring. The total cost of the project is \$631,064.94, paid by BHP. Obviously these containers are not normal. They have extensive fit-outs (ie. commercial kitchen). When completed, we will have a semi-permanent structure to accommodate food vendors. The project will:

- 1. Enhance visitor and residents use of the park;
- 2. Compliment popular food markets and other events;
- 3. Provide a venue to raise funds for community groups and sporting clubs; and
- 4. Provide options for food outside current operating hours and also an opportunity for small start-up to trial their business.

We conducted two (2) surveys, one for traders and one for the community. Both gave a number of responses. The existing traders were mainly concerned about competition that would be created, due to these pop-ups and high overheads. The community wanted an alternative to what was on offer and enhancement of the area.

The majority of responses were about activating the area, such as for drive-in service or sit down or what the area could look like, with family events more likely.

BHP will be responsible for management once installed and will take into account all responses. I thank BHP for the community contribution and acknowledge their broader efforts to revitalise this particular area.

Chief Executive Officer highlighted key points of the Officer's Report.

The Commissioner supported the Recommendation in relation to this item.

CM201920/249 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION That Council:

- 1 Acknowledge BHP Billiton Iron Ore Pty Ltd (BHP) for their contribution of \$631,064.94 (ex GST) towards the design, construction, fit-out and installation of pop-up food outlets (upcycled sea containers) at Marapikurrinya Park;
- 2 Note the outcome the community consultation undertaken to inform the project;
- 3 Request that the CEO or his delegate to proceed with the procurement of popup food outlets (upcycled sea containers) at Marapikurrinya Park; and
- 4 Request that the CEO or his delegate commence an Expression of Interest or similar process to determine the lease options for the pop-up food outlets.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to formally acknowledge the receipt of funds from BHP that will be utilised by the Town for the procurement, fit-out, delivery and installation of a number of 'pop-up' food containers (upcycled sea containers) at Marapikurrinya Park.

DETAIL

BHP and the Town have been working on a joint partnership project to enhance the West End through the establishment of semi-permanent structures to accommodate local food vendors and community groups at Marapikurrinya Park (the Park). The project intent is to deliver a number of benefits including:

- an enhanced experience for residents and visitors to the Park;
- complementing the popular food markets and other events that are currently hosted at the Park;
- providing a venue to support fundraising endeavours of local community and sporting clubs; and
- providing options to purchase food and drink outside of current operating hours of existing hospitality traders.

Consultation

The community consultation was undertaken via two (2) surveys (one targeting community members who will purchase from the pop-ups, and one targeting food vendors who will operate from the pop-ups). In addition, existing West End food businesses and food vendors were approached for their feedback in relation to the project.

The 'community' survey focussed on how community members would utilise the pop-ups including, how (dine-in vs takeaway), when (breakfast, lunch, dinner, or throughout the day), what (coffee, full meals or snacks) and with whom (family and/or friends). Key data included the following:

- 53.61% of respondents preferred a dine-in experience;
- 81.52% of respondents would like dedicated tables/chairs to use at the pop-ups;
- Respondents were most likely to visit the pop-ups with their family (52.58%) and their partner (27.84%);
- Respondents were most likely to visit the pop-ups at dinner time (44.33%) or at any time of the day (42.27%);
- 58.76% of respondents would patronise the pop-ups throughout the whole week; and
- The following food/drink options rated the highest:
 - o Full meal options (75.26%);
 - o Snack foods and/or 'grab and go' items (70.10%); and
 - o Desserts (62.89%).

The 'food vendor' survey focussed on how the pop-ups would be utilised and what were important fit-out considerations. Key data from this survey included:

- 70.59% of respondents preferred the pop-ups to be 12m (as opposed to 6m);
- Respondents mostly preferred to hire the pop-ups for a single day (47.06%) or consider a long term lease (23.53%);
- 82.35% of respondents would hire the pop-ups on a recurring basis;
- Respondents would mostly trade at the pop-ups throughout the whole day (41.18%) or at dinner time (29.41%);
- 88.24% of respondents would cook fresh onsite at the pop-ups;
- The following items rated highest as requested features of the fit out:
 - o Temporary tables and chairs for patrons (94.12%);
 - o General cleaning items (88.24%);
 - o Bain Marie (88.24%);
 - o Bench/shelf space (88.24%);
 - o Chalkboard, whiteboard or document frame for menu (82.35%);
 - o Deep fryer (82.35%); and
 - o Fridge (82.35%).
- Responses were evenly spread over the type of power required:
- Responses were evenly spread over why respondents would utilise the pop-ups; and
- Responses were evenly spread over how respondents described themselves.

Feedback from existing west end food businesses was obtained via email, personal calls and face to face contact. Key feedback from this group included the following:

- Pop-ups would be in direct competition with existing dedicated food businesses in West End (regardless of what was on offer);
- Established businesses have high overheads to deal with; and
- Would support other activations of the area ie. market events and retail opportunities, which would increase their patronage through foot traffic.

This feedback has been circulated to BHP, and will be utilised by the Town to inform the progress of the project to ensure it complements food/dining options already offered in the West End.

Project Details

Whilst BHP will fund the project, the Town will be responsible for administering both the delivery of the project and the management of the 'pop-ups', once installed. The management of the pop-ups will include, consulting with local food vendors to establish design requirements and the hire/leasing arrangements.

The project will entail the installation of two up-cycled sea containers, with internal fit out, to support food vendors and/or other suitable community and commercial ventures, after a formal Expression of Interest process is completed.

BHP has committed \$631,064.94 in funding to the project, with current high level estimates of the costs indicating an estimated cost breakdown of:

- \$31,000 for project management and delivery;
- \$375,000 for design, engineering, construction, delivery, installation, connection, licences/permits, signage and externals works;
- \$225,000 for interior fit-out including, fryers, fridges/freezers, grills, range-hoods, benches & shelving and dishwashers; and
- remaining items to be funded include, covered seating, paths and other park infrastructure.

When determining the hire arrangements for the pop-ups, there are a number of issues that need to be considered to ensure the project contributes to the objective of activating the West End. These include the duration of each lease, hours of operation (to be considered along with current trading times of local businesses) and the mix of community versus commercial use.

Hire arrangements will be regularly reviewed, to ensure the use of the containers is optimised.

The estimated project timeline is as follows:

2019/2020 Q4 Community consultation and concept design 2020/2021 Q1 Detailed design and procurement

2020/2021 Q2 Construction

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of medium significance, because the project is externally funded and is not complex in nature. The project has required consultation with community and food vendors.

CONSULTATION

Internal

- Executive Leadership Team
- Project Manager Infrastructure and Services
- Manager Financial Services
- Manager Marketing, Communication and Events
- Manager Environmental Health and Community Safety

External Agencies

BHP Billiton Iron Ore Pty Ltd

Community

• The community and local food vendors have been consulted to inform both management arrangements and design requirements for the pop-ups.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

Provisions associated with the Local Government Act 1995 and the Local Government Act Functions and General Regulations 1996 will apply in relation to the procurement of the structures.

Provisions associated with the *Local Government Act 1995* will apply in relation to the future lease of the structures.

Environmental Health legislation will apply in relation to the approvals required for the operation of the structures.

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

The project is to be funded through a grant from BHP which has been submitted through a purchase order to the value of \$631,064.94 (excl GST) and will not impact the 2019-2020 projected budget surplus.

In future years, a budget allocation will be required for insurance, repairs/maintenance and utilities. Once determined, this will be considered through the Town's budget process.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

The following sections of the Town's Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028 are applicable in the consideration of this item:

- 1.c.2 Events and activities to celebrate the Town's cultural heritage, arts and Pilbara lifestyle are consistently programmed and delivered
- 1.c.3 Partnerships with industry and government to support events and activities are enhanced
- 2.a.2 Partnerships with private enterprises and government to fund projects and create jobs are pursued
- 4.c.4 Efficiency strategies across the Town's infrastructure and amenity assets are implemented

Environmental

The project will involve the use of upcycled sea containers.

Economic

The project will provide increased business opportunities for local food vendors and also fundraising opportunities for local sporting community groups.

Social

The project will enhance the experience or residents and visitors to Marapikurrinya Park and result in increased utilisation of the Park

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

The following outcomes of the Town's Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2017-2022 apply in relation to this item:

- Outcome 1 Services and Events
- Outcome 2 Buildings and Facilities
- Outcome 4 Quality of Service
- Outcome 6 Consultation Process

Corporate Business Plan

Nil.

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

There is a reputational risk associated with this item because the Town has significantly progressed the project and has also committed to improving the amenity of the West End. The risk rating is considered to be medium (9), determined by a likelihood of possible (3) and consequence of moderate (3).

There is a financial risk because BHP has already committed to the funding. The risk rating is considered to be high (12) determined by a likelihood of possible (3) and a consequence of major (4).

These risks will be eliminated by the adoption of the officer's recommendation.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

As the Town has been working with BHP on this project and the funds have already been committed by BHP, adoption of the officer's recommendation is considered the only viable option at present.

CONCLUSION

The Marapikurrinya Park pop-up project will add to the experience of residents and visitors attending the Park, as well as provide benefits to local food vendors and community groups who operate the pop-ups.

The project provides another valuable opportunity to strengthen the Town's relationship with BHP who are funding the infrastructure components of the project.

ATTACHMENTS

- 1. Feedback from food vendors and west end food businesses (under separate cover)
- 2. Community and food vendor survey results (under separate cover)

11.3 Regulatory Services

11.3.1 DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION 2020/055 - TELECOMMUNICATION INFRASTRUCTURE - LOT 5769 (150) ANDERSON STREET

Author: Graduate Planner

Authorising Officer: Director Regulatory Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

This item is a request to allow Telstra to build a Tower on Lot 5769 (150) Anderson Street, Port Hedland.

This matter does concern me, having on a number of occasions been involved in this process in the South. I do sympathise with the objections of the family that is some 150 metres away from the proposed Tower location. I am of the view that this distance is safe, based on previous information provided by Telstra over the years. I am advised that installation will improve coverage and make a total of five (5) Towers in Port Hedland. I do hope that is correct, as some parts of Port Hedland, the reception is not very good.

My experience with these Towers, is that the Commonwealth Act that allows the construction of the Tower, is supported by the Planning Authority that makes it impossible to stop or object to these Towers.

We have received a letter from Planning Solutions dated 23 June 2020 objecting to Recommendation 12 being applied in relation to this matter and I have read the objection through a number of times and I say this: Recommendation 12 is part of my instigation upon landscaping. Landscaping is a normal condition and would apply to any other group wishing to erect a Tower or any other unsightly structure. The fact that the land they chose is a small block, is their business and they should have considered the impact of that decision. This is not their reason and is not good enough to impose a restriction and the imposition of Recommendation 12 is sensible and a normal condition. I have looked at the conditions put in place to allow the construction and am now happy with the 12 Conditions and the Advice Notes that are supplied.

I support the Recommendation in relation to this item and having considered the above mentioned letter.

CM201920/250 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council pursuant to Clause 74 of Schedule 2 of the Deemed Provisions of the Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015 approves Development Application 2020/055 for the erection of a Telecommunications Tower and associated Security Fencing on Lot 5679 (150) Anderson Street, Port Hedland subject to the following Conditions and Advice Notes:

Conditions:

- 1. The approved development shall be in accordance with the stamped approved plans (DWG2020/055/1 DWG2020/055/3) and details submitted with the application, and these shall not be altered without the prior written consent of the Town of Port Hedland;
- 2. This decision to approve shall expire if the development has not substantially commenced within two (2) years of the decision date;
- Stormwater shall not be directed onto the adjacent car park or abutting property for the duration of the development to the specification and satisfaction of the Town of Port Hedland;
- 4. Kerbing shall be provided as indicated on DWG2020055/1 to all areas not designed for stormwater discharge (minimum 200mm height) to prevent the escape of stormwater and sediment onto adjoining lots, prior to the occupation of the development and to the satisfaction of the Town of Port Hedland;
- The approved development shall not result in the removal or damage of any car parking bays on Lot 5769;
- All piped, ducted and wired services, air conditioners, service metres must be located and/or screened to mitigate any visual and noise impact on the occupants of nearby properties and screened from view from the street and the adjacent car park to the satisfaction of the Town of Port Hedland;
- 7. A schedule of the colour and texture of the construction materials shall be submitted to and approved by the Town of Port Hedland, prior to the lodging of a Building Permit. The development must be finished with the approved colours and materials prior to the occupation of the development, and thereafter maintained to the satisfaction of the Town of Port Hedland;
- 8. Prior to lodging an application for a Building Permit, the applicant must submit, have approved by the Town of Port Hedland, and thereafter implement to the satisfaction of the Town of Port Hedland a construction management plan addressing the following matters:
 - a) How construction materials and equipment will be delivered and removed from the site:
 - b) How construction materials and equipment will be stored on-site;
 - c) Parking arrangement for contractors;

- d) Details of cranes, large trucks or similar equipment which may block public thoroughfares during construction; and
- e) Other matters likely to impact on surrounding properties and existing infrastructure;
- Existing trees identified on the approved site plan (DWG2020/055/1) must be relocated and replanted in such a way that compliments the proposed development to the satisfaction of the Town of Port Hedland prior to use of the development;
- 10. Alterations or relocations of existing infrastructure within the road reserve and car parking area shall be carried out and reinstated at the landowner's cost to the specification and satisfaction of the Town of Port Hedland prior to use of the development; and
- 11. Dust and sand both during and after construction shall be contained on-site with the use of suitable dust suppression techniques.
- 12. Prior to lodging an application for a Building Permit, a detailed landscaping plan shall be submitted to the specification and satisfaction of the Town of Port Hedland for approval, and must include, but not limited to:
 - a) The location, number, size and species of proposed shrubs and trees;
 - b) Mulched areas;
 - c) Screening of the base of the development fronting Anderson Street and the abutting carpark with dense plantings;
 - d) Existing landscaped areas to be impacted by the development to be replanted; and
 - e) The areas to be updated and reticulated.

Prior to use of the development, the landscaping plan must be fully implemented, and maintained thereafter, to the satisfaction of the Town of Port Hedland.

Advice Notes:

- 1. The approved development requires a Building Permit in accordance with the *Building Act 2011* prior to the commencement of construction.
- 2. This approval constitutes development approval only and does not obviate the responsibility of the landowner / developer to comply with all relevant health, building, and engineering requirements.
- 3. Prior to the application of a Building Permit, a licence must be granted through the Australian Communications and Media Authority.
- 4. The development must comply with the *Environmental Protection (Noise)*Regulations 1997 at all times to the satisfaction of the Town of Port Hedland.
- 5. It is the responsibility of the landowner / developer to search the title of the property to ascertain the presence of any title encumbrances that may apply.

- 6. It is the responsibility of the landowner / developer to ensure building setbacks correspond with the legal description of the land. This may necessitate resurveying and re-pegging the site. The Town of Port Hedland will take no responsibility for incorrectly located structures.
- 7. If you object to this decision or any of the conditions imposed, you may request the Town of Port Hedland reconsiders the decision. The right to request reconsideration is separate and does not impinge upon any right of appeal under the *Planning and Development Act 2005*.

CARRIED BY ABSOLUTE MAJORITY BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider Development Application 2020/055 which proposes the erection of a 27.4m tall Telecommunication tower and associated Security Fencing on Lot 5769 (150) Anderson Street, Port Hedland.

DETAIL

Development Application was submitted to the Town of Port Hedland on 30 March 2020. The proposed development comprises a 25.6m monopole, six (6) panel antennas and three (3) proposed future 5G panel antennas, to be mounted on a triangular headframe on the monopole. The site will also include one (1) equipment shelter at ground level and one (1) GPS antenna mounted on the equipment shelter, together with cabling and ancillary equipment including six (6) tower mounted amplifiers and three (3) radio units.

The proponent (Telstra) states the development is required to provide improved mobile phone depth coverage and capacity in the Port Hedland Town Site. The Telecommunications Tower is to provide support and ease the current demand on Telstra's existing facilities at Clark Street, Keesing Street and Sutherland Street (Attachment 2 – Site Context). The Tower is expected to provide enhanced in-building coverage, mobile phone and wireless data services to the community, businesses, emergency services and travellers in the area and form an integral part of Telstra's mobile telecommunications network.

Pursuant to Clause 64, Schedule 2 of the Deemed Provisions of the *Planning and Development* (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015, the development was advertised as it had potential to adversely impact landowners in the proximity of the proposed Telecommunications Tower. The application was referred to thirteen (13) landowners within 75m of the development and a notice of the development was published in the North West Telegraph and on the Town of Port Hedland website.

The proposed development is consistent with the following provisions of the Local and State Planning Framework:

Pilbara's Port Town Growth Plan

The Pilbara's Port Town Growth Plan is a strategic blueprint to facilitate the sustained growth of Port Hedland. A key initiative under Clause 5.2.2 is to: "Allow flexibility in business location through provision of quality telecommunications infrastructure, while promoting clustering of business, personal and industrial servicing businesses." According to Telstra, there are identifiable deficiencies in the existing mobile phone coverage and wireless data services and capacity to the residential and business communities in the locality. Accordingly, it is deemed the proposed development will provide an improved telecommunications service for the community.

Town of Port Hedland Local Planning Scheme No. 5

The proposed development is consistent with Sub Clause 4.1.2h the Town of Port Hedland Local Planning Scheme No.5 (Scheme). The Scheme states, "Consolidate the existing civic and community function of the precinct having particular regard for the cohesive location of buildings, structures and open space." The proposed location of the facility will provide improved mobile phone and wireless data coverage to surrounding business and residential communities not currently adequately covered. In addition, the sites location being adjacent to the shopping centre car park will not impede access to the site, intrude upon the existing use of the area or impact on the civic and community function of the precinct.

The proposed development is consistent with Clause 5.5.4 of the Scheme, which states, "In determining applications for planning approval within Commercial, Tourism and Mixed Business Zones, Council may take into consideration any relevant policy adopted in accordance with the scheme." The site of the Telecommunications Tower is contained within the Spinifex Hill Commercial/Community Precinct and zoned Commercial under the Scheme. The proposed Telecommunications Tower is setback approximately 115m from Wilson Street. The height of the monopole has been restricted to 25m metres to reduce the impact on the visual amenity of the areas, and its location adjacent to the shopping centre car park minimises the impact on the function of the Precinct.

The proposed development is inconsistent with Item 29 of Appendix 4 – Car Parking Standards of the Scheme. However, Clause 5.8.8 of the Scheme states, "Where a proposed development is located adjacent to a constructed public carpark, the local government may, where it is satisfied there would be no lowering of safety standards, reduce the amount of required onsite car parking for that development by the amount which it considers the public carpark serves the development." The local government may also require a cash-in-lieu payment to the value referred to in subclause 5.8.3". The facility will be contained within a garrison style fenced compound measuring 12m x 6m and will be unmanned except for maintenance visits two (2) to three (3) times a year. There is sufficient car parking spaces available adjacent to the facility to accommodate a service vehicle during such maintenance periods. Accordingly, there is no requirements for additional on-site parking as per the Scheme.

The proposed development is inconsistent with Clause 5.9 and 5.9.4 of the Scheme, which states, "All applications for Development Approval, except those in residential development involving three (3) dwellings or less shall indicate the landscaping elements of the proposal and in particular a plan showing:

- 1) The percentage of the site devoted to landscaping;
- 2) The areas subject to landscaping works;
- 3) Location of species and plants;
- 4) Other materials imported, arranged and/or constructed on the site; and
- 5) The proposed staging, if any, of works.

Within the Town Centre, Commercial, Tourism, and Mixed Business zones, any outside area which the local government considers detrimental to the amenity of the locality or adjoining lots shall be screened by a wall, fence or planting, including gates where access is required, to the satisfaction of the local government."

The area leased by Telstra is approximately 12m x 6m and abuts a carpark to the south, an approved rectory to the west, and unallocated crown land to the north. As a result, incorporating a landscaping plan is inherently restricted due to the physical restraints of the land tenure and the type of development. It should be noted that previous plans for the development indicated a chain link mesh fence and barbed wire. The Town requested that this was removed and replaced with 1.8m garrison fencing. In lieu of a landscaping plan, a condition has been imposed to replant the existing trees that are proposed to be removed for the development.

Should the applicant be aggrieved by this condition, the Town has grounds to enforce the development of a landscaping plan pursuant to Clause 6.9 of the Scheme. In addition, the lot owner and lesser to Telstra, Sentinel Countrywide Retail Ltd, have existing infrastructure, in the form of tree guards, that enables trees to be replanted in the existing car park that not only enhances the visual aesthetics of the Telecommunications Tower, but the shopping centre.

The proposed development is consistent with Sub Clause 5.10.1 of the Scheme, which states, "No development within the height restriction areas indicated on the Obstacle Limitation Surfaces map (OLS) in the Local Planning Policy Manual shall exceed the height restrictions indicated in the manual." The subject site is located outside the 'Horizontal Surface" area applicable to Port Hedland International Airport and is also outside aircraft approach and take-off flight path splays. It's therefore not subject to the OLS restrictions.

State Planning Policy 5.2 Telecommunications Infrastructure

The proposed development in consistent with Clause 5.1.1 of State Planning Policy 5.2 – Telecommunications Tower (SPP 5.2). The Clause states "Telecommunications facilities should be sited and designed to minimise visual impact and wherever possible:

- a) Be located where it will not be prominently visible from significant viewing locations such as scenic routes, lookouts and recreation sites;
- b) Be located to avoid detracting from a significant view of a heritage item or place, a landmark, a streetscape, vista or panorama, whether viewed from a public or private land;
- c) Not be located where environmental cultural heritage, social and visual landscape values maybe compromised;
- d) Display design features, including scale, materials, external colours and finishes that are sympathetic to the surrounding landscape;

- e) Telecommunications infrastructure should be located where it will facilitate continuous network coverage and/or improve telecommunications services to the community; and
- f) Telecommunications infrastructure should be located where it will facilitate continuous network coverage and/or improve telecommunications services to the community."

The proposed facility will be located on established commercial land, removed from general residential development and significant viewing locations. There is a prominent viewing location located north east of the development, however it's designed to face north and not south, thus is unlikely to impact on views from the location. The site is not located in an area of environmental cultural heritage. The structure is proposed to be a non-reflective concrete finish with the equipment shelter colour matched to the surrounding built form (refer to Attachment 3 – Visual Render). Telstra confirmed a detailed investigation of the locality revealed no other opportunities to co-locate telecommunications infrastructure that would satisfy the coverage objectives for the area.

Telecommunication carriers must comply with the Australian Communications and Media Authority (ACMA) Radio communications Licence Conditions (Apparatus Licence) Determination 2003. These licence conditions make mandatory the limits in the Australian Radiation Protection and Nuclear Safety Agency (ARPANSA) Radiofrequency (RF) Standard which sets limits for human exposure to RF electromagnetic fields from all sources, including telecommunications infrastructure.

ARPANSA is the primary Commonwealth agency responsible for protecting the health and safety of people and the environment from the harmful effects of radiation. Measurement surveys undertaken by ARPANSA demonstrate that environmental radiofrequency levels near base stations for the mobile telephone network are extremely low.

This application was referred to the Town's Senior Environmental Health Officer where they confirmed from the Department of Health there was no objection to the proposed development subject to the granting of a licence with ACMA.

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of medium significance.

This is because Telecommunications Towers have by, in nature, been the subject of dispute in local governments from community groups ranging from visual aesthetics to perceived health impacts established from unsubstantiated studies and anecdotal evidence.

CONSULTATION

Internal

- Director Regulatory Services;
- Manager Town Planning and Development;
- Senior Planner;
- Senior Environmental Health Officer; and
- Graduate Engineer.

External Agencies

• Department of Health.

Community

The application was referred to thirteen (13) landowners in close proximity to the development, and where one (1) objection was received and summarised in the table below. The objecting landowner has been contacted and has been made aware this decision will be determined at Ordinary Council Meeting on 24 June 2020.

The application was also advertised on the Town of Port Hedland Website and the Northwest Telegraph for a period of fourteen (14) days from the 9 April to the 22 April.

Submission Comment

"We live at 177 Anderson street so would be close proximity to the infrastructure, we have 2 young children so my first concern would be our health and well-being and the safety of the long term effects it may have on us.

The second is the eyesore it would create so close to residential houses and also a busy shopping centre.

Also the potential decline in value of the property should we decide to sell in the future. I'm sure it may be a deciding factor for future buyers."

Officer Comment

Noted. The Environmental EME report prepared for the proposed site indicates that EME from this facility operating at full capacity is estimated to equate the a maximum of 4.92% (1/20th) of the Australian Communications and Media Authority mandated exposure limits.

There are obvious challenges to screening a 27.4m Telecommunications Tower. Given the land surrounding the subject site is flat, open and is predominately cleared, a condition has been recommended requiring the replanting of trees removed because of the proposed development, to the satisfaction of the Town of Port Hedland.

Impacts on property values is not a valid planning consideration. There is no credible research which directly links the development of a telecommunications tower to a decrease in property values.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The proposed development has been assessed in accordance with the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015* Schedule 2 – Deemed Provisions for Local Planning Schemes and the following clauses of the Town of Port Hedland Local Planning Scheme No. 5 and State Planning Policy 5.2 Telecommunications Infrastructure.

Local Planning Scheme No. 5- Sub Clause 4.1.2:

- Sub Clause 5.5.2;
- Sub Clause 5.5.4;
- Item 29 of Appendix 4 Car Parking Standards;
- Sub Clause 5.8.1:
- Sub Clause 5.8.5;

- Sub Clause 5.8.8;
- Clause 5.9;
- Sub Clause 5.9.1;
- Sub Clause 5.9.4; and
- Sub Clause 5.10.1.

State Planning Policy 5.2:

- Clause 3.1; and
- Clause 5.1

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

The Town received a development application fee of \$576.00 from the applicant. There are no other financial implications associated with this application.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

The following sections of the Town's Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028 are applicable in the consideration of this item:

- 1.d.2 Facilities and community infrastructure are revitalised across the Town
- 3.b.4 Innovation and resilience of the built form are encouraged, assessed and implemented

There are no significant identifiable environmental, social or economic impacts relating to this item.

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

There is a compliance risk associated with this item because the development could not be constructed in accordance with the approved plan, or comply with the conditions and/or advice notes. The risk rating is considered to be medium (6), which is determined by a likelihood of possible (3) and a consequence of minor (2).

This risk will be eliminated by the adoption of the officer's recommendation.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

Option 2 – Amend officer's recommendation

Option 3 – Do not adopt officer's recommendation

CONCLUSION

Given the proposed development demonstrates compliance with the local and state planning framework, it is recommended that development application 2020/055 be approved subject to the recommended Conditions and Advice Notes.

ATTACHMENTS

- 1. Attachment 1 Approved Plans (under separate cover)
- 2. Attachment 2 Site Context (under separate cover)
- 3. Attachment 3 Visual Render (under separate cover)

11.3.2 CONSIDERATION OF RESPONSE TO WESTERN AUSTRALIAN PLANNING COMMISSION ON DRAFT PORT HEDLAND WEST END IMPROVEMENT SCHEME NO. 1

Author: Senior Strategic Planner
Authorising Officer: Director Regulatory Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

This item is in relation to the Planning Commission Draft West End Improvement Scheme No. 1.

This report will give the Town's response to the Scheme and authorise the Chief Executive Officer to lodge a response by 3 July 2020.

Background

The Port is a vital port for Australia, Western Australia and the Town of Port Hedland and of course, the community that live in Port Hedland. The expansion of the channel, which was finished earlier this year, allows for 617 MT to be exported from the Port. The current capacity is 513 MT. It is in fact the largest port in the world. It is estimated that about 600 people reside in the West End of our Town and that 41% of homes in the West End are unoccupied and 82% of occupied dwellings are renters.

<u>History</u>

In 2009, the Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) was concerned about the impact of dust on Port Hedland and set up a task force who released the plan in 2010. It was recommended that a Health Risk Assessment be set up to determine the impact on the population. This was finalised in February 2016. In August 2017, the State Government released the 2016 Port Hedland Dust Management Task Force Report to obtain the views of the Port Hedland community. 50 Submissions were received in relation to that report.

In October 2018, State Government formalised its position, which was:

- 1. To prohibit sensitive land use and restrict population growth in the West End of Port Hedland, with the Planning Commission to consider the Improvement Plan; and
- 2. Act to ensure future West End Planning Controls will not prevent the redevelopment of residential properties, provided it would not expand the non-conforming use. There is a limit of up to 75% of a damaged property (ie. cyclone) that can be rebuilt, with anything over 75% can in fact not be rebuilt.

The 2016 Task Force Report had extensive engagement with key stakeholders from all areas. It stated the following groups need to be removed from the West End, if possible:

- 1. Older people over 65;
- 2. People with a pre-existing health issues; and
- 3. Children.

The IS1 set out a singular West End zone, being all land west of Taplin Street, excluding Spoilbank and the Foreshore.

Prohibits

- 1. Residential Development for permanent occupancy; and
- 2. Other uses considered sensitive to human health.

The plan provides for public open space corridor along Anderson Street to interface with adjoining industrial land uses.

Consultation

The Planning Commission complies with the minimum standard of consultation, which is one letter to residences. When we first reviewed the system, we recommended extensive community consultation that has in my view, not occurred. We consider the consultation to be inadequate. We consider the time to lodge Submissions should be extended to allow extra time, given the COVID-19 travel restrictions.

Council is also lodging an extensive response to the system and hopes the community also lodge their views. I do understand that some extensions in the lodgement time is being considered, whereby the Chief Executive Officer advised the Commissioner, that the extension has now been granted to 31 July 2020.

Director Regulatory Services highlighted key points of the Officer's Report.

The Commissioner supported the Recommendation in relation to this item.

CM201920/251 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council provides the following comments to the Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) on the draft Port Hedland West End Improvement Scheme No. 1 (IS1):

- 1. Council supports IS1 as it will provide land use and development controls over the IS1 scheme area, including powers for the WAPC to determine development applications, prepare Improvement Scheme Policies, structure plans, and local development plans; and
- 2. Delegates powers to the Chief Executive Officer to provide a detailed submission on IS1 prior to the close of the public comment period on 3 July 2020, to include:
 - Commentary that the consultation process undertaken by WAPC to inform residents and stakeholders, is considered inadequate given the community interest and importance of the West End.
 - b) Recommended modifications to IS1 text and IS1 maps to align with the Town's local planning framework.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider and support the draft Port Hedland West End Improvement Scheme No. 1 (IS1) (refer to Attachment 1) and delegate powers to the Chief Executive Officer, to provide a detailed submission to the Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC), prior to the closing of the public comment period on 3 July 2020.

DETAIL

Port Hedland is home to the largest bulk export port in the world, with a total annual throughput of 513Mt in 2018-19. Annual shipping capacity in Port Hedland increased to 617Mt in 2019, due to investment in port dredging, marine technology and other port efficiencies, cementing the Port's supply chain as the core of the Port Hedland economy for the foreseeable future. Historical urban growth in the West End (defined as west of Taplin Street) and port expansion, has resulted in land use conflict. The issue of air quality in the West End of Port Hedland, and in particular, the potential impacts from dust on human health, has been of concern to the Town, residents, business owners, the Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) and State Government agencies, for many years. Port Hedland's West End is home to about 600 residents, as well as numerous sensitive land uses. Being adjacent to the Port, the West End is the most dust affected urban area in Port Hedland, with bulk commodity exports occurring to the south and west. Census figures indicate that 41 per cent of private dwellings in the area are unoccupied and 82 per cent of occupied private dwellings are rented.

Dust Management Taskforce

In 2009, the EPA raised concerns about the possible impact of dust on Port Hedland residents. The Government subsequently established the Port Hedland Dust Management Taskforce (2009) to plan for and coordinate dust management in the town. The Taskforce released their Port Hedland Air Quality and Noise Management Plan in 2010. The plan proposed, amongst other recommendations, the drafting of a Health Risk Assessment to determine the impact of dust on the population. The Department of Health finalised the Port Hedland Air Quality Health Risk Assessment for Particulate Matter in February 2016. The Taskforce used the findings of the Health Risk Assessment to prepare its Report to Government, which included recommendations for managing dust in Port Hedland. In August 2017, the State Government released the 2016 Port Hedland Dust Management Taskforce's Report to Government to obtain the views of the Port Hedland community, industry and other stakeholders. Fifty (50) submissions were received. After considering the Taskforce Report and the feedback received, the State Government formalised its position in October 2018. In relation to land use planning, the following position was established for managing dust in the West End:

- The Government supports the Taskforce recommendation that appropriate planning controls be implemented to prohibit sensitive land uses and restrict population growth in the West End of Port Hedland. To give effect to this, the WAPC will consider an improvement plan and improvement scheme designed to achieve the land use outcomes described in Recommendation 5 of the Taskforce Report; and
- In response to community concerns raised in the consultation process, the Government will act to ensure that any future West End planning controls will not prevent the redevelopment of residential properties provided that the redevelopment would not result in an intensification or expansion of nonconforming uses should they be more than 75% damaged by a natural disaster such as fire or a cyclone.

IS1 arrangements

Improvement Schemes are similar instruments to local planning schemes, however the WAPC is the determining authority for development applications. They contain development control provisions regarding the scheme area and are prepared in the same manner as a local planning scheme, except the WAPC is the approving authority in place of Council.

IS1 depicts the intended land use and development scenario arising out of the State Government's response to the 2016 Taskforce Report, with the WAPC confirming extensive engagement with key stakeholders from State and local government, community and industry. IS1 provides the statutory framework providing for land use planning administration and development control within the IS1 scheme area (refer to the scheme area map in Attachment 2). Key to implementing the State Government's response to the 2016 Taskforce Report, IS1 provides a definition of 'sensitive land use' in accordance with the findings of the Department of Health's Port Hedland Air Quality Health Risk Assessment for Particulate Matter, which noted that certain groups within the general population have been determined to be more vulnerable to the effects of air pollution.

These include:

- older people (over 65 years);
- people with pre-existing cardiovascular or respiratory disease;
- people with pre-existing respiratory conditions (asthma, bronchitis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease); and
- children.

'West End' zone

IS1 sets out a singular West End zone across all land west of Taplin Street, excluding the Spoilbank and foreshore areas. The West End zone will apply the State Government response to the 2016 Taskforce Report within IS1 by prohibiting:

- any form of residential development which provides for permanent occupancy (for example: single, grouped and multiple dwellings, residential aged care facilities); and
- other land uses deemed to be sensitive receptors for human health impacts from dust (for example: aged person's centres, child care premises, schools, medical centres).

The provision of discretionary land use permissibility within the zoning table is intended to provide the WAPC with the ability to properly consider proposals for non-sensitive land uses on their merits against the objectives of the zone and of the aims and purposes of IS1 (among other matters). Additionally, the WAPC considers merit in establishing appropriate uses as discretionary in order to provide for planning and investment flexibility into the future, without the need for future amendments to IS1. The approach to populating the permissible uses within IS1 zoning table is specific to the West End context, having regard to the findings of the Department of Health's Port Hedland Air Quality Health Risk Assessment for Particulate Matter and the State Government's response to the 2016 Taskforce Report.

IS1 includes a 'use not listed' clause in respect of uses that do not fall within the use classes, outlined within the zoning table. Given the evolving nature of the resources sector and technological advancements, it is considered appropriate to incorporate such a clause into this Scheme, in order to 'future-proof' it and allow flexibility within the West End.

The clause requires that the WAPC determine that the use is consistent, with the objectives of the zone prior to approval, providing a framework for the exercise of discretion.

'Landscape Interface' reserve

A 'Landscape Interface' reserve is provided within IS1 for the public open space corridor along Anderson Street to interface with adjacent industrial land uses, south of IS1 boundary. The reserve will also continue to serve town site drainage functions.

Roads

IS1 identifies primary distributor, local distributor and local road reserves, to distinguish the main heavy vehicle route along Wilson Street, accessing the Port from local traffic routes in the West End. Further, to the road classifications detailed in IS1, there is potential for future upgrades to the intersection, and realignment of Anderson Street and Short Street. Aimed at creating a unique sense of arrival to the West End, while focusing heavy vehicle traffic along Wilson Street; and with only limited access along Anderson Street, it will minimise conflicts between visitor traffic and industrial traffic.

Consultation

In accordance with the requirements of the *Planning and Development Act 2005*, the minimum statutory consultation requirements the WAPC is required to follow for improvement schemes, involve one (1) letter to be sent to landowners and stakeholders, allowing an opportunity for the public to view a draft improvement scheme and provide a timeframe in which the public can provide comment. Given the West End functions as a town centre, with invested community organisations, businesses and a substantial residential population, this consultation approach is considered by the Town to be inadequate. Further, as of the 9 June 2020, the Town has received four (4) submissions from residents of the West End expressing concern regarding the public consultation period falling within Covid-19 lockdown, restricting their ability to provide comment and requesting an extension of the public consultation period.

The Town has previously advocated for WAPC to extend the level of community engagement and to support opportunities for the community and landowners, to provide input into the formulation of the improvement scheme, rather than comment on a draft that has already been prepared. Given the WAPC has not initiated consultation methods beyond the minimum statutory requirements, the Town and local community have had limited opportunity for involvement in the formulation of IS1. Part two (2a) of the Officer Recommendation in this report aims to reflect this viewpoint in the Town's detailed submission.

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of high significance, as IS1 will have significant implications for the present and future social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Port Hedland. It is outside the Town's control to consult on IS1 and the Town has previously recommended the WAPC dedicates sufficient resources to community engagement associated with the improvement scheme process.

CONSULTATION

Internal

- Manager Town Planning & Development
- Director Regulatory Services

External Agencies

Nil

Community

 Given the WAPC has not initiated consultation methods beyond the minimum statutory requirements, the local community have had limited opportunity for involvement in the formulation of IS1.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

- Planning and Development Act 2005
- Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

Financial and resource implications associated with draft IS1 are not known at this stage. The State Government is yet to release its findings on the Voluntary Buy-back Scheme.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

The following sections of the Town's Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028 are applicable in the consideration of this item:

- 2.d.1 Investment in key infrastructure development such as the port and logistics is pursued
- 2.d.2 The development of industry specific value chains are encouraged and supported
- 3.b.1 The present and future needs for serviced land and infrastructure provision are identified, planned and developed
- 3.b.5 The protection and valuing of amenities and urban space is enhanced through community engagement
- 3.c.1 Urban and spatial planning is implemented to enhance human interaction with nature and industry

Environmental

The State Government's decision to implement the Dust Taskforce Report through an improvement plan and scheme will see a change in zoning over the West End of Port Hedland to reduce the risk to human health associated with exposure of a large portion of the population to elevated levels of dust.

Economic

The economic impacts of IS1 are not known at this stage.

Social

The West End of Port Hedland contains a historic town centre and large population base. The Town should advocate to protect cultural, historic and community values associated with the area through the improvement scheme process.

Corporate Business Plan

The following action of the Town's Corporate Business Plan 2018-2022 apply in relation to this item:

• 3.b.1.3 - Advocate to and support State Government initiatives to resolve land use conflicts

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

There is a reputational risk associated with this item because there has been a long standing land use conflict between port operations and residents in the West End of Port Hedland. The risk rating is considered to be high (16), which is determined by a likelihood of likely (4) and a consequence of major (4).

There is an environmental risk associated with this item, as IS1 represents a response to the Health Risk Assessment and resolving land use conflicts in the West End. The risk rating is considered to be medium (9), which is determined by a likelihood of possible (3) and a consequence of moderate (3).

This risk will be mitigated by the adoption of the officer's recommendation. If Council resolves not to support IS1, it may be seen to be hindering the implementation of actions associated with the Dust Taskforce Report which aim to reduce health risk associated with exposure of large portions of the population to elevated levels of dust.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

Option 2 – Amend officer's recommendation

Option 3 – Do not adopt officer's recommendation

CONCLUSION

This report has provided an overview of draft Port Hedland West End Improvement Scheme No. 1 (IS1). The key factors to note are that IS1 represents a response to implementing the October 2018 State Government decision on the Dust Taskforce Report. Gazettal of IS1 will transfer decision making power for development applications from the Town to the WAPC. The improvement scheme process is driven by the State Government and the recommendation is for Council to support IS1 and delegate powers to the CEO to provide a detailed response to the WAPC prior to the closing of the public comment period on 3 July 2020.

ATTACHMENTS

- 1. Port Hedland West End Improvement Scheme No. 1 Text (under separate cover)
- 2. Port Hedland West End Improvement Scheme No. 1 Map (under separate cover)

11.3.3 PROPOSED SCHEME AMENDMENT NO. 84 - RECLASSIFICATION/REZONING OF LAND BOUND BY STYLES ROAD, PRETTY POOL CREEK, COOKE POINT ROAD FROM 'PARKS AND RECREATION', 'RURAL' AND 'PUBLIC PURPOSES: ENERGY' TO 'URBAN DEVELOPMENT'

Author: Senior Strategic Planner
Authorising Officer: Director Regulatory Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

This proposal is to put in place the final area that could be delivered in the East End for residential land. Other areas have already gone through this process. The aim of this proposed Scheme Amendment No. 84 is for the land known as the "Stables Precinct" to become urban development.

This is part of plans for the future population growth before any actual development occurs then would be a need for an environmental and cultural plan to be developed. No development will be contemplated until the structure plan is prepared and approved by the Planning Commission.

The Dust Mitigation Plan for the West End demands that we look at creating land that residents of the West End may wish to relocate to in the East End and there is some work yet to be done.

This land has been put forward before and was rejected, as the Town had not completed the CHRMAP requirement. This has now been achieved.

This amendment will transfer the land from rural, parks and recreation and other public purpose, to urban development.

Director Regulatory Services highlighted key points of the Officer's Report.

The Commissioner supported the Recommendation in relation to this item.

CM201920/252 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council:

- 1. Adopt proposed Scheme Amendment No. 84 (Amendment No. 84) to the Town of Port Hedland Local Planning Scheme No. 5 (LPS5) without modification, pursuant to section 75 of the *Planning and Development Act 2005* (PD Act) and Part 5 regulation 35 of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015* (the Regulations);
- 2. Determine that Amendment No. 84 is a standard amendment pursuant to regulation 35(2) of the Regulations for the following reason:
 - a) Amendment No. 84 is consistent with the objectives of the Town of Port Hedland Pilbara's Port City Growth Plan and Town of Port Hedland Draft Local Planning Strategy; and
 - b) Amendment No. 84 will have minimal impact on land in the scheme area and it will not result in any significant environmental, social, economic or governance impacts on land in the scheme area;
- 3. Authorises the Chief Executive Officer to arrange for Amendment No. 84 to be referred to the Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) pursuant to section 81 of the PD Act, to enable the EPA to comply with section 48A of the *Environmental Protection Act 1986*; and
- 4. Authorises the Chief Executive Officer to arrange for Amendment No. 84 to be advertised for public inspection pursuant to section 81 and 82 of the PD Act and in accordance with the procedure set out in regulation 47 of the Regulations.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to adopt proposed Scheme Amendment No. 84 (refer to Attachment 1), which was lodged by Element on behalf of DevelopmentWA, in collaboration with the Town of Port Hedland (Town) to reclassify/rezone the land bound by Styles Road, Pretty Pool Creek and Cooke Point Road, also known as the 'Stables Precinct' (the subject site) to 'Urban Development'. The reclassification/rezoning of the subject site to 'Urban Development' is being undertaken to de-constrain the subject site, by clearing an important step in the land assembly process, to ensure land availability for future population growth and cater to a potential shift of the residential population, from the West End of Port Hedland.

DETAIL

Amendment No. 84 seeks to facilitate the redevelopment of the subject site for primarily residential purposes, in accordance with the strategic direction for the area under the Town's *Pilbara's Port City Growth Plan*. Development would be guided by an approved structure plan, which would plan for environmental and cultural values of the Stables site, and the natural environment and high amenity of Pretty Pool Creek. Amendment No. 84 is the first step in the statutory planning process, for de-constraining this site. No subdivision or development will be contemplated until a structure plan is prepared and approved by the Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC).

Background

The growth of Port Hedland, since the 1960's, has largely been driven by the iron ore industry. Today, Port Hedland is the largest bulk export port in the world for iron ore, with an export output of 247 million tonnes during 2012 and 513 million tonnes in 2019. Future export volume is forecast by the Port Hedland Industries Council, to be 700 million tonnes by 2027. As a result of a significant increase in port operations and export movements in the last decade, concerns have been raised as to the public health risk of iron ore dust in the West End of Port Hedland.

The WA Department of Health undertook investigations into the issue of dust in West End and published the report Port Hedland Air Quality Health Risk Assessment for Particulate Matter (February 2016). The report concluded that, there is sufficient evidence suggesting the possible negative effects on human health, from dust in West End. The Department recommended improved dust management, monitoring controls and land use planning measures, to reduce community exposure to dust. To cater for this shift in residential population from the West End of Port Hedland, DevelopmentWA in collaboration with the Town of Port Hedland, is continuing to plan for and prioritise land, to accommodate a shift in residential population, as well as future population growth.

Coastal processes and flooding

Amendment No. 84 follows the previous Scheme Amendment No. 77 for the same land, which also proposed to rezone the site to 'Urban Development'. Amendment No. 77 was refused by the Minster for Planning in May 2017, primarily on the basis of an inconsistency with *State Planning Policy 2.6 – State Coastal Planning Policy* (SPP2.6). That inconsistency was the Town of Port Hedland had not (at that time) completed a Coastal Hazard Risk Mapping and Adaption Plan (CHRMAP).

A CHRMAP informs the viability (including any adaptation measures) for locating future residential areas in the context of coastal processes and flood inundation, arising from climate change and forecast sea level rise. In April 2019, the Town of Port Hedland adopted a CHRMAP for Port Hedland Town site that identifies and assesses coast hazard risks, culminating in a recommended adaptation pathway to address the identified short-term and long-term risks to the area. The findings of the adopted Town of Port Hedland Town site CHRMAP, provide a framework to guide future development of Port Hedland.

The Town of Port Hedland Town site CHRMAP study's modelling and erosion investigation, demonstrates that over the planning timeframe of 100 years, the subject site is landward of the coastal erosion hazard line to the east at Pretty Pool Beach. Thus the erosion hazard criteria of SPP2.6, for the 100 year planning horizon, is met. The Town of Port Hedland Town site CHRMAP study also identified the subject site to be within a coastal flood inundation risk hazard area. Flooding as a result of tidal movement, storm surge, wave action and changes in sea level, place as identified in the Town of Port Hedland Town site CHRMAP, have the potential to impact the subject site in the long term. The modelling undertaken in the technical investigations to support Amendment No. 84, demonstrate that with filling of the site and provision of a bund wall of suitable rock design for stability, the SPP2.6 inundation criteria for the 100 year planning timeframe (above the 500 year ARI water level), can be satisfied.

A 6.7m AHD finished floor level of development as determined by the Cardno Addendum report dated 27 May 2020 (refer to Appendix A within the Environmental Assessment Report in Attachment 1), will adequately address the potential coastal flood inundation impacts identified in the Town of Port Hedland Town site CHRMAP. The preliminary geotechnical and engineering investigations, confirm that the site can be developed to accommodate imported fill, to achieve a minimum finished floor level of 6.7m AHD, which is consistent with the requirements of the Town of Port Hedland Town site CHRMAP. Site filling is an appropriate adaptation measure in response to the potential climatic impact of coastal processes and flooding (due to sea level rise) to the year 2110. Thus proposed urban development within the amendment area, can potentially comply with the provisions and expectations within SPP2.6.

Land description and tenure

The subject site will form an extension of the existing Pretty Pool residential area, extending east outwards along Styles Road, is approximately 27 ha in size and is mostly vacant Crown Land, under various forms of tenure. It incorporates two Crown Reserves, which are under use by the Town:

- Crown Reserve 5770 for the purpose of Equestrian Uses which is presently used by the Port Hedland Pony Club and Port Hedland Turf Club; and
- Crown Reserve 29044 for the purpose of Recreation, which is currently under a licence by the Port Hedland Pony Club.

Amendment No. 84 does not affect the ongoing rights of the leases or future renewal of the leases. This has been explained to all parties by DevelopmentWA and the Town.

The ground conditions of the site can be described as follows:

- a limestone ridge runs along the south of the site parallel to Styles road reaching a maximum height of 7.0m;
- a secondary dune system located in the north-western corner which has low shrub land across it and heights to 8.0m and bare tidal flats down to levels of 2.0m AHD; and
- bare tidal flats comprised of low lying shrub land and patches of grass.

Proposed Scheme Amendment

Amendment No. 84 proposes to reclassify/rezone the subject site from 'Rural', 'Parks and Recreation' and 'Other Public Purpose – Energy', to 'Urban Development'. It will facilitate the future subdivision and development of the land residential purposes, following preparation of a structure plan for endorsement by the WA Planning Commission. The proposed reclassification and rezoning of land, is shown in the scheme amendment plan (refer to Attachment 1).

Amendment No. 84 also proposes modifications to Appendix 10 of LPS5, which will provide for appropriate planning considerations at the structure planning, subdivision and development stages of future development. These modifications will ensure that required environmental investigations are carried out, as part of the structure planning process for the subject site, in accordance with the established framework for the Pretty Pool area under LPS5.

The proposed amendments to Appendix 10 involve updating both the name of the development area to 'Pretty Pool' rather than 'Pretty Pool 2', and the description of the land, to reflect the broader area. This will provide consistency across future development areas and ensure that the requirement, for relevant environmental studies, applies to the remaining undeveloped areas of Pretty Pool.

Concept Development Plan

The 'Urban Development' zone provides for a basic footprint, for which structure planning is undertaken. Structure planning will identify the appropriate land uses, road layout and urban infrastructure, within the urban development zone. It is highly likely, that not all of the urban development zone being proposed, will be developed for residential use. A reduced residential footprint is expected as part of structure planning, which would result in a greater area provided as a foreshore setback, to the Pretty Pool Creek natural area, compared with the earlier development concept plans.

The structure planning process will consider an appropriate mix of low and medium density residential development, consistent with the established character of surrounding residential development in the localities of, Pretty Pool to the east and Cooke Point to the north. The structure planning will also consider and respond to the requirements of the WAPC Liveable Neighbourhoods. Matters to consider include:

- The distribution of residential density, across the subject site, consistent with the Town's aspirations for the area;
- The integration of established roads, with the proposed internal road network;
- The provision of public open space to service the area, which has been informed by the location of places of identified cultural heritage significance;
- The role that public open space will play in urban water management, noting the unique climate and high rainfall events in the area;
- The interface with Pretty Pool Creek and the provision of public access via the proposed public road network, in recognition of the role Pretty Pool Creek, can play in providing a high level of amenity for future residents and creating a unique sense of place;
- Providing a high level of passive surveillance of streets and public spaces, in accordance with the principles of crime prevention, through environmental design; and
- CHRMAP considerations will also inform the structure planning and design outcomes, including provision of appropriate coastal protection infrastructure and finished development levels, to mitigate against coastal flood inundation. Accordingly, the ultimate form and layout of development, will be further explored as part of the structure plan process.

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of medium significance, because the decision may affect the capacity of the Council to carry out activities identified in the strategic plan and may affect a range of people who reside in Port Hedland.

CONSULTATION

Internal

- Director Regulatory Services;
- Manager Town Planning and Development;
- Manager Infrastructure Projects and Assets;
- Manager Marketing, Events and Communications;
- Coordinator Property Management; and
- Community Engagement Officer.

External Agencies

Should Council resolve to support the officer's recommendation for adoption, Amendment No. 84 documentation including all attachments will be submitted to the Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) for assessment pursuant to Section 81 of the *Planning and Development Act 2005.*

Community

Dependent on the assessment outcome by the EPA, Amendment No. 84 will be referred internally and externally as well as being advertised in accordance with *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015*, as follows:

- Locally distributed newspaper;
- Registered letters to all adjoining properties within 100m radius;
- Site notice will be placed on the site; and
- Notice will be placed on the information board at the Civic Centre office.

Once the consultation process has been finalised, Amendment No. 84 will be bought back before Council. At that point, Council is required to form a resolution to either support, support with modifications or not support Scheme Amendment No. 84, in its recommendation to the WAPC.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

- Planning and Development Act 2005
- Planning and Development (Local Planning Scheme) Regulations 2015

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

Scheme Amendment No. 84 is fully funded by the Town of Port Hedland. This is a collaborative project with DevelopmentWA, who are providing project management services for the project, free of cost.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

The following sections of the Town's Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028 are applicable in the consideration of this item:

- 3.a.1 Traditional owners, key stakeholders, and the community are informed and actively involved in the protection and enhancement of the natural environment
- 3.a.2 Biodiversity is understood by the community and protected
- 3.b.1 The present and future needs for serviced land and infrastructure provision are identified, planned and developed
- 3.c.3 Engagement with the community on urban renewal and greening initiatives is enhanced

There are no significant identifiable environmental, social or economic impacts relating to this item.

Corporate Business Plan

The following action of the Town's Corporate Business Plan 2018-2022 apply in relation to this item:

 3.b.1.3 – Advocate to and support State Government initiatives to resolve land use conflicts

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

There is a reputational risk associated with this item due to the tight approval timeframes being pursued, which may impact the Town's reputation. The risk rating is considered to be medium (8), which is determined by a likelihood of unlikely (2) and a consequence of major (4).

There is a financial risk associated with this item due to the tight approval timeframes that statutory requirements may exceed available budget requiring additional funds or project objectives not being met. The risk rating is considered to be medium (6), which is determined by a likelihood of unlikely (2) and a consequence of moderate (3).

The above risks will be eliminated by the adoption of the officer's recommendation.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

Option 2 – Amend officer's recommendation

Option 3 – Do not adopt officer's recommendation

CONCLUSION

Proposed Scheme Amendment No. 84 will facilitate the reclassification/rezoning of the land, known as the 'Stables Precinct' to 'Urban Development'. The reclassification/rezoning of the subject site to 'Urban Development', is being undertaken to de-constrain the subject site, by clearing an important step in the land assembly process, to ensure land availability for future population growth and cater to a potential shift of the residential population from the West End of Port Hedland. Scheme Amendment No. 84 is consistent with the Town's endorsed planning strategy, the *Pilbara's Port City Growth Plan*. It will be brought back before Council to consider once the advertising process has been finalised.

ATTACHMENTS

1. Scheme Amendment No. 84 documentation (LATE under separate cover)

11.3.4 WORKFORCE ACCOMMODATION AND SOCIAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT PLANNING FRAMEWORK

Author: Senior Strategic Planner
Authorising Officer: Director Regulatory Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

This item is in relation to new single man quarters (SMQ) and how they will be structured and in future, will need to be constructed.

Council has used Professor Fiona McKenzie's work on the social impact of accommodation and the distances from work places, as a referral document.

The concept in this item is to ensure benefits are realised for the community first, industry and of course, industry workforces. This policy will be required to be advertised for public comment, before being presented to Council for final adoption (either with, or without modification).

The report highlights the following:

- 1. Exceptional growth in workforce over the past 20 years, number of long distance commuting (LDC) in the last boom, exceeded the number of residents;
- 2. Amount of accommodation within 20 kilometres of Port Hedland is approximately 3500 beds;
- 3. Work travel is a major problem, with 30 minutes considered the maximum in this region to get to work;
- 4. There is a significant impact of LDC on host communities and fly over communities, regarding investment in host Towns;
- 5. Significant impact of LDC on workers, who do face specific psychological risk from loneliness, fatigue and isolation. There is a duty of care in relation to this particular matter;
- 6. Supports for a co-location workforce accommodation within host Towns;
- 7. Workforce connects to the fabric of Towns:
- 8. Ensure accommodation fits into the long term plans of the Town;
- 9. Ensure design fits into local environment;
- 10. Improve building and landscape appeal; and
- 11. Fit into neighbourhood.

Three types of accommodation:

- 1. Short term workforce accommodation: typically much larger and more transient and may accommodate, but not limited to construction workforce, temporary Workforces assists with delivery of a project;
- 2. Intermittent workforce accommodation: typically associated with alternating shutdown crews, required for only short term and multi-skilled teams etc; and

3. Long term workforce accommodation: account for small workforces, generally longer term employees.

The system will require all workforce accommodation to be looked at with the above in mind and the type of workforce proposed, we will prefer workers to be within 30 minutes of accommodation or work place. The Town expects high design standards for longer term workers.

I am sure companies will have an opinion in relation to this issue and we are looking at this issue in relation to safety and long term appearance and connect ability to the Town. Remembering, this is for new projects.

Director Regulatory Services highlighted key points of the Officer's Report.

The Commissioner supported the Recommendation in relation to this item.

CM201920/253 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council:

- 1. Adopts Position Statement Workforce Accommodation for final approval, presented in Attachment 1 of this item;
- 2. Adopt the research paper authored by Professor Fiona Haslam McKenzie subject to any modifications resulting from a peer review process, presented in Attachment 2 of this item;
- 3. Initiates draft Local Planning Policy 05 Workforce Accommodation and draft Local Planning Policy 06 Social Impact Assessment pursuant to Clause 3, Schedule 2 of the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015* (the Regulations), presented in Attachment 3 and Attachment 4 respectively of this item, for the purpose of public consultation; and
- 4. Advertises draft Local Planning Policy 05 Workforce Accommodation and draft Local Planning Policy 06 Social Impact Assessment pursuant to Clause 4, Schedule 2 of the Regulations.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider adopting the Position Statement – Workforce Accommodation (Position Statement) and research paper by Professor Fiona Haslam McKenzie (research paper) and initiate draft Local Planning Policy 05 – Workforce Accommodation (LPP05) and draft Local Planning Policy 06 – Social Impact Assessment (LPP06). In acknowledgement of the varying characteristics of workforce, the Town has focused its policy response on the lifespan of workforce accommodation facilities to ensure the individual and cumulative social impacts can be appropriately addressed, and benefits realised for both the community, industry proponents, and industry workforces.

Should Council resolve to adopt the draft policies, they will be advertised for public comment before being presented to Council for final adoption (with or without modification).

DETAIL

Position Statement - Workforce Accommodation

The Position Statement was previously initiated at the Ordinary Council Meeting held on 5 February 2020. The draft Position Statement was then advertised for a period of 40 days from 12 February 2020 to 23 March 2020, through an advertisement in the North West Telegraph, email notifications with key industry, community and government stakeholders and on the Town's website. Nine (9) submissions were received during the public consultation period and are captured in a schedule of submissions (refer to Attachment 5). The purpose of the Position Statement is to:

- 1. Outline the Town's rationale, when responding to development applications or referrals, for workforce accommodation.
- 2. Provide underlying principles for the community, industry and stakeholders, to consider when proposing workforce accommodation.
- 3. Support the formulation of Local Planning Policies relating to Workforce Accommodation and Social Impact Assessment.

Submissions offered, support for the draft Position Statement, and however were critical of elements, which were not fully developed. It should be acknowledged, that the draft Position Statement was prepared as a precursor to the subsequent research paper and local planning policies, for workforce accommodation and social impact assessment. The majority of suggestions with the submissions have been supported and have resulted in a revised Position Statement, with changes in content, format and structure (refer to Attachment 1).

Research Paper

The Town contracted research by Professor Fiona Haslam McKenzie, Co-Director at the Centre for Regional Development at the University of Western Australia, to inform a safe driving distance to a worksite from accommodation. The purpose of which, has been used to inform LPP05. The methodology included, an evidence based review of literature on the impact of Long Distance Commuting (LDC) practices on individuals and communities, and safety considerations when travelling between home and work. Interviews were also conducted with experts, regarding industrial relations issues and with government and industry stakeholders, on occupational health and safety, in the context of LDC and considerations for safe work distances.

The report highlights:

- The exponential growth in workforce accommodation over the past two decades (the number of LDC in the region, during the last mining boom, exceeded the number of residents).
- That workforce accommodation located within 20km of the town site, is estimated at approximately 3,500 beds, although this number is difficult to confirm, due to an absence of source data and local government referral exemptions for certain mining leases, under the Mining Act and State Agreement Acts.

- The dearth of academic literature and industrial guidelines regarding safe levels of work travel, in the context of time worked and the absence of academic literature, in a non-urban setting.
- The significant impact of LDC, on host communities and the 'fly-over effect', regarding investment in host towns.
- The lack of equivocal evidence of the impact of LDC, compact shifts and extended rosters on workers, however indications that LDC workers do face specific psychosocial risks from loneliness, fatigue and isolation.
- Duty of care obligations, pertaining to worker travel time in the context of 12-hour shifts, compressed rosters and limited flexibility, associated with standard work hours.
- Concerns raised by interviewees, around travel to work sites from Port Hedland including, road quality and maintenance, workers compensation, weather impacts, wild animals, family pressures and time spent undertaking tasks additional to shifts.
- Evidence that also reflects positive mental health and work tenure outcomes, for employees and State Government support, for collocating workforce accommodation within host towns, where practicable.
- That government statutory and policy frameworks, promote reliance on workforce accommodation and do not align effectively, with government's purported support of local government endeavours, to increase the proportion of residential workers.
- That encouraging a residential workforce for resource dominated towns, appears to make sense from a community and regional development perspective, with a logical solution, being the imposition of a geographical boundary within which, workforce accommodation facilities are discouraged.

Considering the industry standard 12-hour work roster and a sufficient rest period of seven hours, the findings calculated that one hour per day from accommodation to site and return is appropriate. This equates to 30 minutes travel time each way. Variations in the location of accommodation and drop off points on work sites, creates complexity in calculating the 30 minute commute time. The 30 minutes commute time is not definitive and to ensure standardisation in calculations for the purposes of workforce accommodation, the Town has applied the town site boundary and the principal proponent's worksite boundary, as the parameters for calculating 30 minute worksite travel. As noted, companies and individuals have a duty of care, regarding workforce safety and issues regarding workforce safety for travel distances under LPP05, will form part of the consultations with the Town, regarding the location of workforce accommodation.

Local Planning Policy 05 – Workforce Accommodation

The development arrangements for workforce accommodation in Western Australia, are covered by three key legislative instruments. The *Planning and Development Act 2005* establishes a general requirement for all development to obtain approval, through a development application made under the planning scheme. However, the jurisdictions of the *Mining Act 1978* and State Agreements, which are ratified by Acts of Parliament, can vary the application of the *Planning and Development Act 2005*.

The decisions of when, how and where to accommodate workers are complex, and may be influenced by factors such as, the economy and Commonwealth taxation arrangements. Similarly, arrangements for workforce accommodation, may be made between the State Government and companies directly, and through the issuing of 'general purpose' mining tenements. LPP05 has been prepared to compliment proposed draft Local Planning Scheme No. 7 (LPS7), providing guidance to proponents of workforce accommodation and is consistent with the Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) *Position Statement: Workforce Accommodation*.

The objectives of LPP05 are:

- 1. Integrate workforce accommodation into the fabric of town centres and residential areas.
- 2. Ensure a design that can perform longer-term functions, rather than be demolished after a short life.
- 3. Encourage urban based workforce accommodation that is located close to commercial centres, to serve multi-purpose functions within the Hedland community.
- 4. Achieve integration of aesthetically designed built form, with the local environment.
- 5. Improve building, landscaping, street and town appeal.
- 6. Provide high-quality, aesthetically pleasing and locally appropriate design that reflects a neighbourhood-like environment.

Types of workforce accommodation

The Town understands that workforce accommodation is economically critical infrastructure, that may be required in a very short timeframe and therefore, flexibility is required. LPP05 identifies three types of workforce accommodation to accommodate for this, as follows:

Short-term workforce accommodation – typically much larger and more transient and may accommodate, but not be limited to, construction workforces. Used for projects, where the workforce is temporary, engaged for the short to medium term and associated with the delivery of a project or projects, with less than a three year life cycle;

Intermittent workforce accommodation – typically associated with alternating shutdown crews that may only be required for a short period of time. Workforces comprise multi-skilled teams, that work extended shifts, undertaking maintenance or upgrading jobs; and

Long-term workforce accommodation – typically accommodates operational workforces, which are smaller in number and where employment is generally for the longer term and more stable. Job roles can include, office staff, drivers, non-shutdown maintenance crews, emergency services, plant operators, and so on, which respond to ongoing project operations, with a lifecycle of three or more years.

LPP05 has different locational requirements and design standards, depending on what type of workforce accommodation is proposed, as discussed later in this report.

Need/Demand

With any proposal for workforce accommodation, the Town will require that the applicant demonstrate that, additional workforce accommodation is required to accommodate the proponent's workforce, in accordance with Clause 67(ze) of LPS7. Information must be detailed and address the following:

- the specific worksite or worksites that employees will be working at;
- the location or locations of those worksites;
- the estimated length of time, that the worksite or worksites have funding for, or will be operational for;
- the number of workers that will be needed, for the worksite or worksites;
- a breakdown of the different roles, that the employees will engaged in (ie. construction, maintenance, operational);
- a breakdown of short-term, intermittent and long-term employees, needing to be accommodated at each worksite; and
- whether the proposal seeks to accommodate workers from other worksites and/or companies.

The above information will assist in determining what type of workforce accommodation the development falls under, which influences location and design requirements. The Town wishes to prevent third party workforce accommodation that does not serve a particular worksite or worksites' needs and will not support these proposals.

Preferred locations for workforce accommodation

Where a worksite is located within a 30 minute drive of the Port Hedland and/or South Hedland town site boundary, as defined by the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage and there is available land for development, the Town will not support workforce accommodation, external to that boundary. Where a worksite is located outside of a 30 minute drive of either town site boundary, the location will be considered remote. The Town has applied the town site boundary and the principal proponent's worksite boundary, as the parameters for calculating 30 minutes worksite travel.

Design Standards

Short-term and intermittent workforce accommodation, is characterised by the relatively urgent nature of the accommodation being needed, to support the commencement of projects. The Town quantified this to a three year period, to provide a greater level of certainty to the industry. This number is based on a range of historical construction projects within the Pilbara, including the construction of mines, port expansions and development of new railway yards, which tended to be completed within 2.5 years.

The Town does not expect a workforce associated with, for example, a single construction project to stay within the area beyond completion of a particular project. Given the short nature that this accommodation is needed and designed for, a set of 'Basic Design Standards' are outlined in LPP05. The basic design standards apply to the following proposals:

• Short-term and/or Intermittent workforce accommodation (outside Residential, Urban Development, Centre and Mixed Use zones - based on draft LPS7 zonings).

Where workforce accommodation is designed to house a workforce for three years or greater, generally associated with an operational workforce, the Town expects a high standard of design that compliments SPP7.0. The 'High Design Standards' applies to the following proposals:

- Short-term and/or intermittent workforce accommodation (within Residential, Urban Development, Centre and Mixed Use zones based on draft LPS7 zonings); and/or
- Long-term workforce accommodation within any zone; and/or
- Hybrid accommodation models that propose to incorporate long term workforce persons with short-term and/or intermittent workforce persons.

The high design standards are based on a number of State Planning Policies and design guidelines, including SPP7.3 Residential Design Codes Volume 1 and Volume 2. These were used as inspiration, given that achieving good quality design for housing/accommodation, heavily impacts on people's quality of life and the positive contribution to a town.

Time Limit

Pursuant to clause 72 of the Deemed Provisions, the local government may impose conditions limiting the period of time, for which development approval is granted. For the purposes of LPP05, a condition may link the timeframes of the project phases (ie. the construction phase) to the workforce accommodation's development approval. Development that is designed and constructed, in accordance with the 'Basic Design Standards', shall have a time limited approval, that accords with the project lifespan, to a maximum of three years. Development that is designed and constructed, in accordance with the 'High Design Standards', shall not have a time limited approval.

Referral

In considering proposals for workforce accommodation on mining tenements, the local government may exercise its discretion to inform the Minister for Mines and the Minister for Planning, in writing that the granting of a mining lease or general purpose lease, is contrary to the provisions of the Scheme. Where workforce accommodation under the Mining Act 1978 or under a State Agreement Act is likely to impact the Town of Port Hedland's achievement of its development aspirations, the local government may seek to influence the arrangements governing workforce accommodation. In considering proposals for workforce accommodation on mining tenements, the Town may exercise its discretion to inform the Minister for Mines and the Minister for Planning, in writing that the granting of a mining lease or general purpose lease, is contrary to the provisions of the Scheme.

Local Planning Policy 06 - Social Impact Assessment

Sustainability is central to the planning system integrating the social, economic and environmental consequences of land use and development, in order to deliver a better quality of life of communities and for future generations. The *State Planning Strategy 2050* aims to provide for the sustainable use and development of land, and this aim is based on six key principles for:

- Enabling diverse, affordable, accessible and safe communities;
- Facilitating trade, investment, innovation, employment and community betterment;
- Conserving the State's natural assets through sustainable development;
- Ensuring infrastructure supports development;
- Building the competitive and collaborative advantages of the regions; and
- Building community confidence in development processes and practices.

The objectives of LPP06 are:

- 1. To encourage early identification and assessment of positive and negative social impacts of a planning proposal, through a Social Impact Assessment and Social Impact Management Plan, for mitigating adverse impacts and maximising positive social outcomes, for the impacted community.
- 2. To outline the Town's expectations concerning the key elements of a Social Impact Assessment, including genuine engagement with stakeholders.
- 3. To support informed decision-making with quality information and measures to be implemented and monitored, through key performance indicators.

LPP06 applies throughout the Town of Port Hedland. It specifies what types of planning proposals should be accompanied, by a social impact assessment:

- A structure plan, as a technical appendix to the structure plan report;
- A standard or complex scheme amendment, as a technical document;
- Development falling within the use class of 'Workforce Accommodation';
- Development that has an estimated cost of construction in excess of \$10 million;
- Development or use that the Town considers, would result in significant social change or harm; and/or
- An amended or updated SIA, where an amendment to an above-listed proposal is submitted to the Town.

LPP06 provisions aim to rely on best-practice and the skillsets of appropriately qualified personnel to formulate and prepare the SIA. The provisions also have regard to the guidance for assessing and managing the social impacts of projects, which have been well established at an international level. This would allow applicants to consider the most appropriate scope and methodology, to align with the scale and complexity of their particular project or planning proposal.

Should Council adopt both policies, the Town would advertise the local planning policies for a minimum period of 21 days, in accordance with the Deemed Provisions of the Regulations.

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of medium significance as:

- A number of regional local governments have adopted local planning policies for workforce accommodation and social impact assessment.
- The benefits are well established in relation to identifying positive and negative social impacts and mitigating against adverse consequences of development.

It is appropriate for the Town to consider social impacts as part of planning and decision-making processes. The Environmental Protection Authority considers social impact as a key environmental factor for its own environmental impact assessment process, to protect social surroundings from significant harm. However, not all planning proposals are subject to an environmental impact assessment process.

CONSULTATION

Internal

- Manager Town Planning and Development; and
- Senior Planner.

External Agencies

 External agencies will be consulted as part of the public advertising period, should the policies be initiated.

Community

- A notice of the proposed draft local planning policies will be published in the North West Telegraph, for a period of no less than 21 days. This advertisement will provide details on:
 - The subject and nature of the proposed policy;
 - The objectives of the proposed policy;
 - Where the proposed policy may be viewed; and
 - To whom, in what form and during what period submissions in relation to the proposed policy may be made.
- A copy of the draft local planning policies will also be placed on the Town's website inviting submissions. Any submissions received during the public consultation period will be considered and reported back to Council in accordance with the *Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015*.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

- State Agreements which are ratified by Acts of Parliament;
- Mining Act 1978;
- Planning and Development Act 2005;
- Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015; and
- Town of Port Hedland Local Planning Scheme No. 5.

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

There is a financial cost of advertising the draft planning policies in the North West Telegraph with an approximate cost of \$600.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

The following sections of the Town's Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028 are applicable in the consideration of this item:

- 1.b.5 Opportunities to get involved and results of engagement are regularly promoted
- 1.d.3 Facilities and community infrastructure are well maintained, managed and fit for purpose to provide a range of lifestyle opportunities
- 3.c.1 Urban and spatial planning is implemented to enhance human interaction with nature and industry

There are no significant identifiable environmental, social or economic impacts relating to this item.

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

There is a health risk associated with this item because social impacts on the community can result as a consequence of development and/or use of land for certain activities. The assessment of potential social impacts would be considered reasonable for certain developments, based on their potential impacts, just as proposals are considered and assessed for their potential environmental impacts. The risk rating is considered to be medium (6), which is determined by a likelihood of possible (3) and a consequence of moderate (3).

There is a reputational risk associated with this item because the requirement to undertake social impact assessment or additional design requirements has a time and cost implication for a proponent. It is anticipated that there will be submissions received arguing for the fair and reasonable application of the local planning policy in terms of when social impact assessments are necessary, and the form and content of the assessments. The risk rating is considered to be medium (5), which is determined by a likelihood of possible (3) and a consequence of minor (2).

The above risks will be eliminated by the adoption of the officer's recommendation.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

Option 2 – Amend officer's recommendation

Option 3 – Do not adopt officer's recommendation

CONCLUSION

The adoption of the Position Statement, research paper and initiation of the draft local planning policies will introduce extra rigour when considering proposals for workforce accommodation and require the preparation of a social impact assessment for certain planning proposals. The planning policies encourage applicants to undertake this work early, so that it can inform the planning proposal and help mitigate negative social impacts on our community. By initiating these policies, Council will have a basis for requesting social impact assessments for improved planning and decision-making capabilities and added weight when responding to proposal for workforce accommodation facilities.

ATTACHMENTS

- 1. Position Statement - Workforce Accommodation (under separate cover)
- Research Paper by Professor Fiona Haslam McKenzie (under separate cover) 2.
- Draft Local Planning Policy 05 Workforce Accommodation (under separate cover)
 Draft Local Planning Policy 06 Social Impact Assessment (under separate cover) 3.
- 4.
- Schedule of Submission Position Statement (under separate cover) 5.

11.4 Infrastructure Services

11.4.1 PROPOSED ADOPTION OF REVISED POLICY 9/004 'PRE-CYCLONE GREEN WASTE COLLECTION'

Author: Manager Infrastructure Operations
Authorising Officer: Director Infrastructure Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

This proposal is to revise the Policy 9/004 'Pre-Cyclone Green Waste Collection'.

This review is to correct faults in the current Policy and to emphasise what is able to be put out and what is not.

Firstly, as the name states, this policy is for the clean-up of green waste only and other items such as fridges, stoves and the like are not included, and should be disposed of in the Town's landfill dump site, which is free and the correct way to dispose of those types of items.

If any such rubbish is left on the verge, it will not be collected through this process and will result in a fine, if not correctly disposed of as soon as possible. Some of the changes are:

- Ensure that prunings are no longer than 1.5m;
- Ensure that cut ends are placed towards the street:
- Ensure that prunings do not obstruct footpaths or walkways;
- Ensure that pruning's are not placed within 2m of existing infrastructure; and
- Ensure that loose materials are suitably wrapped.

The Town's employees or contractors will not enter private property to collect waste that has been incorrectly stored in the front verge.

I support the Recommendation in relation to this item.

CM201920/254 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council adopt revised Policy 9/004 'Pre-Cyclone Green Waste', as per Attachment 1.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider the proposed amendments made to the Town's policy on the collection of pre-cyclone green waste to ensure it remains current and in line with the Council's strategic direction.

DETAIL

Background

The administration is currently undertaking a comprehensive review of Council policies to ensure they are relevant and meet the needs of Council and the community. Over the past few months, Council have been presented a number of policies, which have required a review, based on their level of priority, significance and length of time that has passed since their last review. Policy 9/004 'Pre-Cyclone Green Waste' was first adopted in 2004 and last reviewed in 2014.

The Town of Port Hedland is located in a region of Australia which frequently experiences cyclones during the summer months. Cyclone season in Australia officially runs from 1 November through to 30 April. To alleviate risks to the community, businesses and infrastructure, Council adopted a policy for the collection of green waste, prior to each cyclone season. Under the policy, residents and businesses, within the municipal boundaries of Port Hedland, including South Hedland, Pretty Pool, Cooke Point, Wedgefield, South Hedland Rural Estate, Redbank and Turner River, are offered a free green waste collection service between September and October each year. This service is either undertaken by the Town's staff or an external contractor.

In order for the Town to carry out the collection efficiently, businesses and residents are asked to adhere to the following conditions:

- Ensure that prunings are no longer than 1.5m;
- Ensure that cut ends are placed towards the street;
- Ensure that prunings do not obstruct footpaths or walkways;
- Ensure that pruning's are not placed within 2m of existing infrastructure; and
- Ensure that loose materials are suitably wrapped.

Proposed Amendments

Firstly, to continue its alignment with the Town's strategic direction to 'Undertake community cyclone preparation and response' and 'ensure governance information provided to the community is in line with legislated requirements', the policy has been amended to refer to the potential non-compliance actions, in line with the Town's current Waste Local Law and the Litter Act 1979.

Furthermore, the addition of the clause that "Town staff or any external contractor will not enter private property to collect waste" ensures that officers, without explicit delegation by Council, do not breach the rights of residents and businesses, by unlawfully entering a property.

Other minor administrative amendments have been made, as shown in the attachment.

All proposed amendments have no impact on the intent of the policy, which remains to ensure that residents and businesses, are adequately prepared for the annual cyclone season.

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of low significance, and does not meet any of the criteria which deems it significant.

CONSULTATION

Internal

The following Town officers have contributed to the review:

- Manager Infrastructure Operations;
- Manager Waste Services; and
- Manager Environmental Health Services.

External Agencies

Nil.

Community

Community members are made aware of the collection each year through the Town advertising via newspaper, local radio and social media outlets at least one month prior to commencement of collections. This is also stipulated in the policy.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

In the event that the Town outsources the collection to an external contractor, the Town will be required to adhere to the purchasing policy.

The Town of Port Hedland Waste Local Law (2018 and proposed 2020) and *Western Australian Litter Act 1979* outline possible compliance action which may need to be undertaken if required.

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

The Town allocates an annual operational budget to undertake the collection each year. The amendments to this policy has no effect on budget.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

The following sections of the Town's Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028 are applicable in the consideration of this item:

- 3.b.2 Emergencies such as cyclones are prepared for, educated about, responded to and recovered from in partnership with key agencies
- 4.b.3 Transparent and regular governance reporting and communication to the community is undertaken

There are no significant identifiable environmental, social or economic impacts relating to this item.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

The following outcomes of the Town's Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2017-2022 apply in relation to this item:

Outcome 1 – Services and Events

Corporate Business Plan

The following actions of the Town's Corporate Business Plan 2018-2022 apply in relation to this item:

- 3.b.2.1 Undertake community cyclone preparation and response
- **4.b.3.1** Ensure governance information provided to the community is in line with legislated requirements

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

There are no significant identifiable risks associated with the adoption of this revised policy, however, there may be a potential reputational risk that the Town is not reviewing its policies in a timely manner considering the policy was last amended in 2014. The risk rating is considered to be low (4), which is determined by a likelihood of likely (4) and a consequence of insignificant (1).

The risk will be eliminated by the adoption of the officer's recommendation.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

Option 2 – Do not adopt officer's recommendation

CONCLUSION

The revised pre-cyclone green waste collection policy promotes alignment to the Town's delegations, Waste Local Law and relevant legislation, and further reiterates the Town's commitment in ensuring that its policies remain current and in line with legislative requirements.

ATTACHMENTS

1. Policy 9/004 Pre - Cyclone Green Waste Collection (under separate cover)

11.4.2 CONTINUATION OF CONTRACT FOR RFT2017-14 SOUTH HEDLAND INTEGRATED SPORTING PRECINT: ARCHITECT BRIEF

Author: Project Manager

Authorising Officer: Director Infrastructure Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

This report is to extend the current contract of the Architect for the duration of the Master Plan process, as they have now gained extensive experience in this project.

The original contract was granted by Council for work on the precinct plan up to \$1,286,765.50 and work on the Master Plan, which was approved by me. The Architect has changed their name from Sandover Pinder to Carabiner Architects.

I support the extension of the contract to allow the company to be involved in the entire project and the amount of \$1,072,088.50 is the balance of the original contract.

Director Infrastructure Services highlighted key points of the Officer's Report.

The Commissioner supported the Recommendation in relation to this item.

CM201920/255 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council:

- Endorse the award of the remainder of RFT2017-14 'South Hedland Integrated Sporting Precinct: Architect Brief' to Carabiner Architects for \$1,072,088.50 (Ex GST), for a term of seven (7) years with no options to extend; and
- 2. Authorise the CEO to execute the remainder of the contracted works for the remaining below stop/go points:
 - a. Completion of the Schematic Design Stage;
 - b. Completion of the Tender Documentation/ Pre-Tender Estimate Stage; and
 - c. Consideration/ Evaluation of Tenders.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider the award of the remainder of the works, under RFT 2017-14 South Hedland Integrated Sporting Precinct: Architect Brief, to progress the design of the Masterplan.

DETAIL

The preliminary design of the South Hedland Integrated Sports Complex (now known as South Hedland Integrated Sports Hub or SHISH), was awarded to Carabiner Architects (formerly Sandover Pinder) in 2017, following a public tender process. This work was the result of significant community consultation, and was completed by Carabiner Architects, in conjunction with ABV Leisure Consultants.

The South Hedland Integrated Sporting Precinct, now known as South Hedland Integrated Sports and Community Hub (SHISH), was formally endorsed by Council in August 2019.

The proposed contract for the Architect and design team has been developed to enable progression of the project, through to construction of the major building infrastructure, with stop/go points inserted into the contract, at the following project stages:

- 1. Completion of Masterplan/Design Brief;
- 2. Completion of Concept Design Stage;
- 3. Completion of the Schematic Design Stage;
- 4. Completion of the Tender Documentation/Pre-Tender Estimate Stage; and
- 5. Consideration of Tenders.

The initial award was presented to Council in March 2018, with the following resolution:

CM201718/176 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION/COUNCIL DECISION

MOVED: CR MCDONOGH SECONDED: MAYOR BLANCO

That Council;

- Endorse the recommendation of the evaluation panel and award the Tender 2017/14 for the South Hedland Integrated Sports Precinct; Architect Brief to Sandover Pinder for a projected contract value of \$1,286,765.50 (ex GST) subject to the STOP/GO segments; and
- Commence the Master Plan stage to the value of \$96,727 (ex GST), with any further stages exercisable at the discretion of the Town, following subsequent approval by the Council and future budget allocation.

CARRIED 6/2

For: Mayor Blanco, Deputy Mayor Newbery, Cr Carter, Cr Hebbard, Cr McDonogh, Cr Pitt Against: Cr Whitwell, Cr Daccache

Following completion of the first stage above, the second stage was presented to Council, in August 2019, to progress to the schematic design stage.

CM201920/029 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION \ COUNCIL DECISION

That Council:

- Endorse the South Hedland Integrated Sports Complex Masterplan (Attachment 1).
- Authorise the Chief Executive Officer to proceed to the detailed design of the South Hedland Integrated Sports Complex.
- Authorise the execution of the schematic design (next) stage of contract by the appointed project architects – Carabiner Architects.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

Now that Carabiner Architects have completed this stage of works, the Town is seeking Council approval to proceed to the next stage of design, and for the Town's Executive Leadership Team to manage the project, without the requirement of Council approval to proceed to the next stage.

The proposed contract is for a seven (7) year period, with no options for extension. It is anticipated that the contract will commence on 1 July 2020.

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of medium significance, in terms of social, cultural and wellbeing issues of the residents of the Town of Port Hedland, as it relates to the development of significant community infrastructure.

CONSULTATION

Internal

- Director Infrastructure Services;
- Principal Project Manager;
- Project Manager;
- Director Community Services;
- Manager Community Development;
- Manager Infrastructure Projects and Assets;
- Manager Leisure Facilities;
- Senior Sports and Facilities Officer;
- Regulatory Services team including planning and environmental health & safety;
- Finance team:
- Marketing team;
- Legal Advisor;
- Procurement team;
- Manager Infrastructure Operations; and
- Leisure team.

External Agencies

- Carabiner Architects including sub-consultants;
- Aspect Studios (Landscaping Design); and
- ABV Leisure consultants.

Community

- All Hedland Basketball Association;
- Hedland Reds Junior Football Club;
- South Hedland Swans Football Club:
- South Hedland Cougars Rugby League Club;
- Port Hedland Cricket Association;
- Hedland Touch Association; and
- Hedland Gymnastics Club.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The initial tender was publicly advertised and awarded in accordance with the *Local Government Act 1995* the *Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations 1996* and the Town's purchasing policies and processes.

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

Carabiner Architects were initially awarded a projected contract value of \$1,286,765.50 (ex GST), subject to stop/go points. To date, Carabiner Architects have been awarded the following under RFT 2017-14:

FY	Award amount (ex GST)	Comment
17/18	\$96,727.00	As per Council resolution CM201718/176
19/20	\$117,950.00	As per Council resolution CM201920/029
TOTAL	\$214,677.00	

This leaves \$1,072,088.50 of the initial award available to allocate.

As per the 19/20 approved capital budget, \$850,000 was allocated to this project, with an anticipated carryover of \$540,000 into 20/21.

The total remaining contract value of \$1,072,088.50, will be awarded in 19/20, with expenditure occurring through to 26/27.

There is \$9,500,000 allocated for the South Hedland Integrated Sports Hub (SHISH) project in the proposed 20/21 capital budget, of which the design work to be undertaken by Carabiner is part.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

The following sections of the Town's Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028 are applicable in the consideration of this item:

- 1.a.1 Stakeholders are engaged to develop a whole of town approach to increase accessibility to quality health and wellbeing services
- 1.a.4 Partnerships with stakeholders to deliver sport and recreation are enhanced
- 1.a.5 Agencies and the community are fully engaged to reduce anti-social behaviours and improve community safety
- 1.a.6 Town-wide health, safety, recreation and sporting activities and services
- 1.b.4 Regular opportunities for the broad community to have input into the Town of Port Hedland plans and programs are provided for transparency, accountability and two-way interaction
- 1.b.5 Opportunities to get involved and results of engagement are regularly promoted
- 1.c.1 The community, industry, arts and cultural organisations are engaged to identify, plan and coordinate events and activities
- 1.c.2 Events and activities to celebrate the Town's cultural heritage, arts and Pilbara lifestyle are consistently programmed and delivered
- 1.d.1 The present and future facilities and requirements of the Town are planned for and developed in-line with relevant facility standards and community needs
- 1.d.2 Facilities and community infrastructure are revitalised across the Town
- 1.d.3 Facilities and community infrastructure are well maintained, managed and fit for purpose to provide a range of lifestyle opportunities
- 3.b.1 The present and future needs for serviced land and infrastructure provision are identified, planned and developed
- 3.b.5 The protection and valuing of amenities and urban space is enhanced through community engagement
- 3.c.1 Urban and spatial planning is implemented to enhance human interaction with nature and industry
- 3.c.2 The community is surrounded by and has access to attractive natural habitats, built form, parks and amenities
- 3.c.3 Engagement with the community on urban renewal and greening initiatives is enhanced
- 4.b.1 Sound long-term financial planning is implemented
- 4.b.4 Constructive forums are provided for discussion and the representation of the diversity of views and needs that impact on the Town's developments, programs and policies
- 4.c.2 Community members, business and tourists are engaged to provide feedback about local facilities and services
- 4.c.4 Efficiency strategies across the Town's infrastructure and amenity assets are implemented

Environmental

Development of the currently undeveloped land on the western and northern sides of the Marie Marland Reserve will have negligible environmental impact.

Economic

This Masterplan is accommodated in the long term financial planning of the Town.

Social

It is expected that the realisation of this Masterplan will have significant impact on social capital for the Port Hedland community.

Item 11.4.2 Page 73

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

The following outcome of the Town's Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2017-2022 apply in relation to this item:

Outcome 2 – Buildings and Facilities

Corporate Business Plan

The following actions of the Town's Corporate Business Plan 2018-2022 apply in relation to this item:

- 1.a.4.1 Support stakeholders to deliver sports and recreation services
- 1.b.4.2 Inform the community on Town projects, operations, services and events
- 1.b.5.1 Develop, implement and review opportunities to share engagement feedback with key stakeholders
- 1.d.3.1 Support the provision of cultural, sporting and recreational facilities which are fit for purpose
- 2.a.2.1 Develop Masterplans and business cases for future project implementation, in line with the Town's strategic direction and needs
- 3.c.3.1 Develop, implement and review public open space in line with the Parks and Paths Strategy.

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

There is a reputational risk associated with this matter because of the identified community need and community desire for improved community and sporting amenities at the South Hedland Integrated Sports Complex. The risk rating is considered to be medium (9), which is determined by a likelihood of possible (3) and a consequence of moderate (3).

This risk will be mitigated by the adoption of the officer's recommendation.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

Option 2 – Do not adopt officer's recommendation

CONCLUSION

It is recommended that Council award the remainder of the works under RFT2017-14 South Hedland Integrated Sports Complex: Architect Brief to Carabiner Architects, and authorise the CEO to execute the remainder of the stop/go points within the contract.

ATTACHMENTS

1. Staging Plan - SHISH (under separate cover)

Item 11.4.2 Page 74

Item 12 Reports of Committees

12.1 Strategy Committee

12.1.1 STRATEGIC COMMUNITY PLAN MINOR REVIEW AND CORPORATE BUSINESS PLAN ANNUAL REVIEW

Author: Manager Planning and Analysis Authorising Officer: Director Corporate Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

The Strategic Community Plan Minor Review and Corporate Business Plan Annual Review were dealt with at the Strategic Committee meeting held the previous week (17 June 2020).

This item is to consider the Strategic Community Plan and Corporate Business Plan. The plan has a ten year horizon in both with more specific tasks over the next four (4) years.

Over the past two (2) years, the development of a number of Master Plans has taken place and completion of Community Perception Survey. In fact, a Strategic Review is conducted every second year and during this period Council was dismissed, due mainly to a lack of leadership.

Progress is now being made to deliver the Corporate Business Plan. Action is now taking place to identify the Strategic Corporate Plan is achieving the strategy, and making sure the Strategic Corporate Plan has no obvious gaps.

We have now completed 45% of the Corporate Business Plan and require no further action. The Strategic Corporate Plan is achieving the desired outcomes.

These reports give full review of what has been achieved and show the significant body of work the staff have done. When I arrived, the productive work had stopped. I congratulate the staff for their contributions and for working under difficult circumstances. The staff were never the problem and in many cases, were treated badly, good advice was ignored and irrational decisions were being made.

I support the Recommendation in relation to this item.

CM201920/256 COMMITTEE / OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council adopt the Strategic Community Plan Minor Review and Corporate Business Plan Annual Review, as per Attachment 1.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider adopting the Strategic Community Plan Minor Review and Corporate Business Plan Annual Review that has been prepared as a combined document.

DETAIL

The Strategic Community Plan Minor Review and Corporate Business Plan Annual Review was presented to the Strategy Committee (Committee) on 17 June 2020 for consideration. The Committee recommended that Council adopt the Strategic Community Plan Minor Review and Corporate Business Plan Annual Review.

The Strategic Community Plan (SCP) was adopted by Council in May 2018 and the Corporate Business Plan (CBP) in October 2018. The SCP defines the Town's vision for Port Hedland and explains, in broad terms, the actions that will be taken over a 10 year period to make that vision a reality. The CBP translates those broad actions in the SCP into more specific tasks that the Town will undertake over the next four (4) year period.

During the past two (2) years, the Town has been actively implementing the SCP. Related activities consist of:

- Progressing the tasks defined in the CBP;
- Developing special topic plans, strategies and master plans;
- Monitoring delivery of the CBP, on a quarterly basis; and
- Obtaining community feedback on the Town's overall performance, via the Community Perception Survey.

Regulation 19C of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 (the regulations) requires a local government to ensure that an SCP is made for its district and the Integrated Planning and Reporting framework (IPR) recommends a strategic review is conducted every second year, alternating between minor and major reviews. Regulation 19DA of the regulations requires a local government to ensure that a corporate business plan is made for its district and that the plan is reviewed every year. These reviews have been combined and neither review is intended to rewrite the plans. The review examines the available evidence to confirm if:

- Progress is being made to deliver the CBP;
- The actions identified in the CBP are still relevant for achieving the strategy; and
- The SCP has any obvious gaps or strategies that are no longer relevant.

More than 45% of the CBP is complete, that is, the actions are complete and require no further action or have become a part of the Town's regular operation, indicating alignment between it and the SCP. No new initiatives are currently proposed for the CBP.

The most common issues raised in the open comments question of the Community Perception Survey are already accommodated in the SCP, indicating no material gaps between the SCP and community's needs and aspirations. Overall, the perception survey had more favourable responses than unfavourable responses, which provides further evidence that the SCP is achieving the desired outcomes.

The next major review of the SCP is due in June 2022 and the annual review of the CBP in June 2021.

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of low significance, because no amendments to the SCP or CBP are proposed.

CONSULTATION

Internal

- Executive Leadership Team; and
- Progress towards implementation of the CBP was obtained from the CBP Quarterly Review that is completed by Managers.

External Agencies

• Nil.

Community

- Feedback on implementation of the SCP from the community was obtained from the 2019 Community Perception Survey; and
- Regulation 19C(9) of *Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996* only requires electors and ratepayers to be consulted "...during the development... and when preparing modifications of a strategic community plan." No modifications to the SCP are proposed and accordingly, no consultation is required.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

Section 5.56(1) of the *Local Government Act 1995* requires a local government to plan for the future of the district.

Section 5.56(2) of the *Local Government Act 1995* requires a local government to ensure plans made under subsection (1) are in accordance with any relevant regulations

Regulation 19C of the *Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996* requires a local government to ensure that a strategic community plan is made for its district.

The IPR recommends a strategic review is conducted every second year, alternating between minor and major reviews.

Regulation 19DA of the *Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996* requires a local government to ensure that a Corporate Business Plan is made for its district and that the plan is reviewed every year.

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial or resource implications related to this report.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

The following sections of the Town's Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028 are applicable in the consideration of this item:

- 1.b.4 Regular opportunities for the broad community to have input into the Town of Port Hedland plans and programs are provided for transparency, accountability and twoway interaction
- 4.b.3 Transparent and regular governance reporting and communication to the community is undertaken

There are no significant identifiable environmental, social or economic impacts relating to this item.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

The following outcomes of the Town's Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2017-2022 apply in relation to this item:

- Outcome 3 Information; and
- Outcome 4 Quality of Service.

Corporate Business Plan

The following actions of the Town's Corporate Business Plan 2018-2022 apply in relation to this item:

- 1.b.4.2 Inform the community on Town projects, operations, services and events.
- 4.b.3.1 Ensure governance information provided to the community is in line with legislated requirements.

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

There is a reputational risk associated with this item, as it may be perceived that the Town has not performed as expected by the community. The risk rating is considered to be medium (6), which is determined by a likelihood of possible (3) and a consequence of minor (2).

To reduce this risk, the action plan is to consistently monitor and ensure that the Town's administration is performing its duties to the best of its ability to meet or exceed its key deliverables.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

Option 2 – Amend officer's recommendation

Option 3 – Do not adopt officer's recommendation

CONCLUSION

It is recommended that Council adopt the SCP Minor Review and CBP Annual Review. The SCP continues to align with community expectations and the CBP continues to be relevant and effective to implement the SCP and accordingly, no changes are proposed to either plan.

ATTACHMENTS

1. Strategic Community Plan Minor Review and Corporate Business Plan Annual Review (under separate cover)

Item 13 Motions of which Previous Notice has been given

Nil.

Item 14 New Business of an Urgent Nature (Late items)

CM201920/257 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council accept the following late item:

14.1 Adoption of 2020/21 Rating Strategy & Adoption of the 2020/21 Annual Budget.

CARRIED BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

14.1 ADOPTION OF 2020/21 RATING STRATEGY & ADOPTION OF THE 2020/21 ANNUAL BUDGET

Author: Senior Management Accountant Authorising Officer: Director Corporate Services

Disclosure of Interest: The Author and Authorising Officer declare that they do not have

any conflicts of interest in relation to this item.

Before considering the below recommendations, the Commissioner made the following statement:

I am pleased to present the 2020/21 Budget to our community and thank the staff for their hard work in producing this budget. This budget is focussed on core investments to build a vibrant town.

I was pleased with the Council's response to the COVID-19 restrictions and of course, with the support of the general public was sensational, that kept us safe during the pandemic. Council committed \$3.1M in support packages and a freeze on Rates and Charges that are reflected in this particular budget, many services were sent on-line during this time. We all have benefited from a strong iron ore industry that did see the workforce of BHP and the other players in Town, not lay anybody off. Your Town also did not lay people off during this period of time.

Spending in this budget is focussed on core projects, which impact positively on the lives of our residents. This budget is long term in its focus, laying the foundations for future infrastructure development and strategic economic investment, ie. new roads, kerbside construction, heavy vehicle access, foot paths etc.

I have taken pride in the progress to deliver precinct Master Plans for McGregor Street, South Hedland Integrated Sports Complex, JD Hardie Youth Zone Master Plan and of course, the Spoilbank Marina Development. We will see these projects move from drawing boards to construction. I do thank the community for their support they have shown in relation to all these positive announcements that have been made.

This budget will see a kerbside recycle programme being introduced, construction of Sea Walls to protect the residential fabric of our Town, Recycling Centre being built, enhance South Hedland Entry Statement, the Pretty Pool Foot Bridge, funding for the community events programmes in this budget and much more in relation to things, that I am sure, people will be happy with.

This will be the only budget that I will be involved with. I am firmly of the view that this budget will serve the Town of Port Hedland well into the future.

Director Corporate Services highlighted key points of the Officer's Report.

The Commissioner made the following additional statement:

I would like to thank the Director Corporate Services, including the Financial Services team. I know that people spent a number of weekends working on this document, to get it ready for tonight and those sorts of efforts, you might think they go unnoticed, but people do notice that and I thank the team for the efforts they put in to get to this particular point. A big thanks from all of us.

I support the Recommendation in relation to this item.

CM201920/258 OFFICER'S RECOMMENDATION / COUNCIL DECISION

That Council adopts recommendations A, B, C, D, E, F, G and H of agenda item 14.1 "Adoption of 2020/21 Rating strategy & Adoption of the 2020/21 Annual Budget" by exception resolution.

CARRIED BY ABSOLUTE MAJORITY BY COMMISSIONER RIEBELING

PART A - GENERAL AND MINIMUM RATES

That Council:

1. Impose the following differential general rates and minimum payments on Gross Rental and Unimproved Value for the 2020/21 financial year:

a) General Rates:

I.	GRV Residential	9.6289 cents in the dollar
II.	GRV Commercial / Industrial	9.6287 cents in the dollar
III.	GRV Mass and Tourist Accommodation	19.2093 cents in the
		dollar
IV.	UV Pastoral	11.0785 cents in the
		dollar
V.	UV Mining and Other	19.7513 cents in the
		dollar

b) Minimum Payments:

Ι.	GRV Residential	\$1,300
II.	GRV Commercial / Industrial	\$1,900
III.	GRV Mass and Tourist Accommodation	\$1,900
IV.	UV Pastoral	\$1,900
V.	UV Mining and Other	\$200

2. Endorse the 2020/21 Statement of Objects & Reasons, as per Attachment 2.

CARRIED BY EXCEPTIONAL RESOLUTION (ON A SIMPLE MAJORITY)

PART B - CONCESSIONS AND INCENTIVES

That Council:

- 1. Grant concessions and refunds in relation to the 2020/21 rate charges listed in the attached schedule (Attachment 1, note 1(f)), pursuant to section 6.47 of the *Local Government Act 1995*, the *Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992* and Council policy 2/014 Rates Concession Policy (Rateable Land);
- 2. Grant fee waivers in relation to the 2020/21 Fees & Charges Schedule in accordance with the Western Australian Companion Card Program as described in the attached schedule (Attachment 1, note 22) pursuant to section 6.12 (1)(b) of the *Local Government Act 1995;* and
- 3. Provide eligible pensioners affected by the \$750.00 rebate capping with a Council initiated concession (as of right, no application necessary) for the balance (gap) to their 50 percent rebate on the 2020/21 annual rates, pursuant to section 6.47 of the *Local Government Act 1995* and subject to the *Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992*.

CARRIED BY EXCEPTION RESOLUTION (ON AN ABSOLUTE MAJORITY)

PART C - INSTALMENT PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

That Council:

1. Nominates the following due dates for the payment of rates in full by instalments, pursuant to section 6.45 of the *Local Government Act 1995* and regulation 64 (2) of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996*:

Full Payment and instalment due date	14 September 2020
2nd quarterly instalment date	27 November 2020
3rd quarterly instalment date	19 February 2021
4th quarterly instalment date	14 May 2021

- 2. Adopts an initial instalment administration charge of \$0 and an instalment charge of \$14 for each instalment after the initial instalment is paid (excluding eligible pensioners and seniors) where the owner has elected to pay rates and service charges through an instalment option, pursuant to section 6.45 of the Local Government Act 1995 and regulation 67 of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996; and
- 3. Adopts an interest rate of 5.5% per annum where the owner has elected to pay rates and service charges through an instalment option (excluding eligible pensioners and seniors), pursuant to section 6.45 of the *Local Government Act* 1995 and regulation 68 of the *Local Government (Financial Management)* Regulations 1996.

CARRIED BY EXCEPTIONAL RESOLUTION (ON A SIMPLE MAJORITY)

PART D - INTEREST ON OVERDUE AMOUNTS

That Council:

- Adopts an interest rate of 8% per annum for rates and service charges and on the costs of proceedings to recover such charges that remain unpaid longer than
 - 35 days after the due date (excluding eligible pensioners and seniors), pursuant to section 6.51 (1) and 6.51 (4) of the *Local Government Act 1995* and regulation 70 of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996*; and
- 2. Adopts an interest rate of 8% per annum on all sundry debtor charges that remain unpaid longer than 35 days after the due date, pursuant to section 6.13 of the *Local Government Act 1995* and regulation 70 of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996*.

CARRIED BY EXCEPTION RESOLUTION (ON AN ABSOLUTE MAJORITY)

PART E – OTHER STATUTORY FEES FOR 2020/21

That Council, pursuant to:

1. Section 67 of the *Waste Avoidance and Resources Recovery Act 2007*, adopt the following charges for the removal and deposit of domestic and commercial waste:

a)	240 litre bin weekly collection – additional classic General waste bin	\$292.50
b)	240 litre bin weekly collection – Classic -for eligible pensioner/senior (20% discount)	\$234.00
c)	240 litre bin – additional classic recycling	\$120.00
d)	240 litre bin - additional classic recycling - for eligible pensioner/senior (20% discount)	\$96.00
e)	240 litre bin weekly collection – Premium	\$514.80
f)	240 litre bin weekly collection – Premium for eligible pensioner/senior (20% discount)	\$411.84
g)	240 litre bin weekly collection – additional Premium Recycling	\$155.00
h)	240 litre bin weekly collection – additional Premium Recycling for eligible pensioner/senior (20% discount)	\$124.00

CARRIED BY EXCEPTIONAL RESOLUTION (ON A SIMPLE MAJORITY)

PART F - ELECTED MEMBERS FEES AND ALLOWANCES FOR 2020/21

That Council in accordance with decision CM 201819/208 and pursuant to:

1. Section 5.99 of the *Local Government Act 1995* and regulation 34 of the *Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996*, adopt the following annual fees for payment of elected members in lieu of individual meeting attendance fees:

Mayor:	Councillors:
\$47,516	\$31,678

2. Section 5.99A of the *Local Government Act 1995* and regulations 34A and 34AA of the *Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996*, adopt the following annual allowances for elected members:

Information Technology Allowance \$3,500
--

3. Section 5.98 (5) of the Local Government Act 1995 and regulation 33 of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996, adopt the following annual local government allowance to be paid in addition to the annual meeting allowance:

Mayor	\$89,753
Iviayoi	ΨΟΘ,1 ΟΟ

4. Section 5.98A of the *Local Government Act 1995* and regulation 33A of the *Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996*, adopt the following annual local government allowance to be paid in addition to the annual meeting allowance:

	Deputy Mayor	\$22,438
--	--------------	----------

CARRIED BY EXCEPTION RESOLUTION (ON AN ABSOLUTE MAJORITY)

PART G - MATERIAL VARIANCE REPORTING FOR 2020/21

For the purposes of regulation 34 (5) of the *Local Government (Financial Management)* Regulations 1996 and AASB 1031 Materiality, regarding level of material variance for financial reporting in 2020/21, that Council adopt the following thresholds:

- 1. With regards to expenditure classified as capital projects, a variance of 10% or \$10,000, whichever is greater, of the year to date budget, with individual projects as the level that requires explanation; and
- 2. With regards to all other items excluding capital projects identified above, a variance of 10% or \$50,000, whichever is greater, of the year to date budget, with Nature and Type as the level that requires explanation.

CARRIED BY EXCEPTIONAL RESOLUTION (ON A SIMPLE MAJORITY)

PART H - MUNICIPAL BUDET FOR 2020/21

That Council adopt the Municipal 2020/21 Budget as presented (Attachment 1) including associated notes and supplementary information in accordance with section 6.2 of the *Local Government Act 1995* and Part 3 of the *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996*.

CARRIED BY EXCEPTION RESOLUTION (ON AN ABSOLUTE MAJORITY)

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider and adopt the municipal fund budget for the 2020/21 financial year together with supporting schedules, including imposition of rates and minimum payments, adoption of amended fees and charges, setting of Elected Member fees for the year and other consequential matters arising from the budget papers.

DETAIL

The Municipal 2020/21 budget and its related documentation is being presented to Council for adoption following extensive work by officers. The budget has been compiled on the principles contained in the adopted Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028, the Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2017-2022, adopted Strategic Resource Plan 2019/20 – 2033/34 and the adopted Corporate Business Plan 2018-2028 to bring together a balanced budget in a challenging economic environment due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

A considerable amount of work has been undertaken to review and reduce operating expenditure levels to ensure a realistic and deliverable program for 2020/21. There has been a strong focus on ensuring consistent service levels and an emphasis on a prioritised large capital works program this financial year. Officers will continue to focus on identifying efficiencies within the business and seek out additional revenue to improve the Town's operating position.

The 2019/20 actuals presented in the budget are as at 31 May 2020 with an estimate for June 2020 actuals. These figures do not represent an accurate final full year position, but rather a best estimate.

Rate Model

Rates revenue is a substantial source of discretionary revenue for the Town of Port Hedland and will account for approximately 71% of operating revenue in the 2020/21 budget.

The proposed differential rates model presented to Council was prepared under the Department of Local Government, Sports and Cultural Industries guidelines of objectivity, fairness and equity, and transparency as set out in their Rating Policy – Differential Rates (s6.33) (March 2016). Due to the impact of Covid-19 and directive from the State Government, the Town prepared a rating strategy consistent with 2019/20. The proposed rate in the dollar remains the same as the 2019/20 rate in the dollar to comply with the State Government directive.

Circular No 03-2020 Covid-19 response Order 2020 from the Minister for Local Government; Heritage; Culture & the Arts resolved that differential general rates and minimum payments are to be set at a level no higher than that imposed in 2019/20. Furthermore compliance to section 6.36 to advertise for public submission is not required, however the Town is required to publish the differential general rates and minimum payments on the website within 10 days of resolution.

The rates yield in the 2020/21 budget has been determined based on property valuations provided by the State Valuer General's Office as required per legislation. General rates valuations (GRV) are based on valuations provided in 2019/20 financial year, with the next general valuation due in 2020/21. Unimproved valuations are reviewed annually and have resulted in a net increase to rates yield of \$6.2M. As the State Government has not provided clear intent regarding increases in rates yield resulting from valuations (as opposed to rates in the dollar), this increase in rates yield will be assigned to the Financial Risk Reserve until the situation is clarified.

Fees and Charges

The 2020/21 budget provides for total fees and charges revenue of \$14.4 million. Of the total budgeted fees and charges revenue for 2020/21, \$10.0 million is to be received from waste management services and the balance of \$4.4 million is received from all other facilities. The financial impact of Covid-19 facility closures has impacted the result in comparison to the \$4.9 million budgeted in the 2019/20 financial year.

The preparation of the 2020/21 Fees and Charges Schedule was a result of information sought from officers including justification of the fee/charge to understand the basis of the fees structure (legislative, market comparison, cost recovery or other) and quantification of the fee/charge to underpin the 2020/21 Fees and Charges revenue budget. Due to the restriction on increasing fees and charges there have been no increase to fees or charges on the basis of fee structure.

The key changes were:

- 1. Circular No 03-2020 Covid-19 response Order 2020 from the Minister for Local Government; Heritage; Culture & the Arts refers to S6.51, accrual of interest on overdue rates or service charges to be capped at 8% being the interest rate used by the Australian Taxation Office on overdue amounts. This amendment is reflected in the 2020/21 Fees and Charges schedule for the Town;
- 2. New recycling and additional bin charges; and
- 3. Restructuring of sports ground charges.

The 2020/21 Schedule of Fees and Charges was adopted by Council at the Ordinary Meeting on 27 May 2020.

Elected Members Fees and Allowances

At the Ordinary Meeting of 22 May 2019, Council resolved to adopt the amounts for Elected Member fees and allowances as per the Salaries and Allowances determination (Resolution Number CM 201819/208). The Salary and Allowance Tribunal determined on 8 April 2020 that there will be no increase in remuneration, fees, expenses and allowance ranges provided to CEO's and Elected Members as per Determination No 1 of 2020. This has been reflected in the 2020/21 budget documentation.

Capital Works Program

A capital works program totalling \$76.3 million for investment in infrastructure, buildings and plant and equipment is planned. The increase in the capital program is due to the significant masterplan programs totalling \$30.3 million progressively being implemented from design stage. Projects are itemised in the Capital Expenditure Program included in the supplementary information to the budget.

Loans

As part of the implementation of the capital works program, loan funding has been budgeted for the Depot masterplan and the Staff Housing program. All relevant information relating to these are located in the supporting notes to the budget for 2020/21.

Grant Funding

Total operating and non-operating grant funding and external contributions of \$6.1 million have been anticipated for the 2020/21 budget year. Unfortunately due to Covid-19, many grants that were previously available are no longer available. The Town will continue to seek grant funding for projects as it becomes available from Government and other external sources.

Reserves

The proposed budget allocates interest revenue earned on the reserves to the Municipal fund and will be used towards funding the operations of the Town, and an increased asset renewal programme included in the proposed capital projects schedule.

The proposed budget for 2020/21 transfers net profit of waste activities to the Waste Reserve.

As highlighted in the rates model section above, an amount of \$6.2M from FY2020/21 rates yield will be allocated to the Financial Risk Reserve. This amount represents the increase in rates yield resulting from annual increases in UV valuations.

New Accounting Standards

The Town was required to adopt three new accounting standards from 1 July 2019. The standards are as follows:

- AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers;
- AASB 16 Leases; and
- AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities.

The impact of the new accounting standards has been applied in the 2020/21 budget following on from the transitional requirements implemented in the 2019/20 year. The Town has had external consultants provide guidance on the implementation of these significant changes.

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE

In accordance with Policy 4/009 'Significant Decision Making', this matter is considered to be of medium significance, because of the financial implications of the budget. Section 6.2 of the Local Government Act 1995 requires that no later than 31 August in each financial year, or such extended time as the Minister allows, each local government is to prepare and adopt, in the form and manner prescribed, a budget for its municipal fund for the financial year ending on the next following 30 June. To not adopt the budget before 31 August would be in breach of the legislated requirements.

CONSULTATION

Internal

The Municipal 2020/21 budget has been prepared in consultation with officers of the Town of Port Hedland and in accordance with the presentations made to Commissioner Fredrick Riebeling AM JP at various budget workshops over the last few months. The budget has been prepared to include information required by the *Local Government Act 1995, Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996* and Australian Accounting Standards.

External Agencies

Department of Local Government; Heritage; Culture and the Arts provided the Local Government (Covid-19 Response) Order 2020 in regards to passing of the *Local Government Amendment (COVID-19 Response) Act 2020.*

Community

As the rating Strategy was dictated under the *Local Government Amendment (COVID-19 Response) Act 2020*, public consultation was not required and hence community consultation was not undertaken.

LEGISLATION AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

Section 6.2 of the *Local Government Act 1995* requires that no later than 31 August in each financial year, or such extended time as the Minister allows, each local government is to prepare and adopt (absolute majority required), in the form and manner prescribed, a budget for its municipal funds for the financial year ending on the next following 30 June.

Divisions 5 and 6 of Part 6 of the *Local Government Act 1995* refer to the setting of budgets and raising of rates and charges. The *Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996* details the form and content of the budget. The draft 2020/21 budget as presented is considered to meet statutory requirements.

Section 5.63(1) of the *Local Government Act 1995* specifically excludes the needs to declare a financial interest where matters; have an interest common to a significant number of rate payers/electors; relate to the imposition of any rate, charge or fee; relate to a fee, reimbursement of an expense or an allowance payable to Elected Members.

The determination of the Salaries and Allowances Tribunal on Local Government, Chief Executive Officers and Elected Members under the *Salaries and Allowances Act 1975* dated 8 April 2020 has been reflected in the budget.

The budget is based on the principles contained in the adopted Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028, the adopted Corporate Business Plan 2018-2022 and the adopted Strategic Resource Plan 2019/20 – 2033/34.

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

The 2020/21 budget presents a balanced budget with an estimated municipal surplus of \$194,087. This surplus is based on the assumption of a municipal surplus brought forward to 2020/21 (opening balance) of \$721,525 as the estimated closing balance for 2019/20. The municipal surplus brought forward from 2019/20 will be finalised through the end of financial year reporting and brought back to Council for adoption once confirmed.

It is recommended that Council adopts a balanced budget with a carried forward municipal surplus. In 2019/20 municipal rates are a predominant source of income at over 71% of the total operating revenue budgeted.

The Town is required to have an established 2020/21 budget to ensure its daily operations are carried out effectively, efficiently and in a timely manner.

The 2019/20 actual figures provided in the budget document are interim as at 31 May 2020, with an estimate for June 2020. These are subject to change following the completion of the audited annual financial report, which is expected to occur in November 2020.

STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

The following sections of the Town's Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028 are applicable in the consideration of this item:

- 1.d.1 The present and future facilities and requirements of the Town are planned for and developed in-line with relevant facility standards and community needs
- 1.d.2 Facilities and community infrastructure are revitalised across the Town
- 1.d.3 Facilities and community infrastructure are well maintained, managed and fit for purpose to provide a range of lifestyle opportunities
- 3.b.1 The present and future needs for serviced land and infrastructure provision are identified, planned and developed
- 3.b.2 Emergencies such as cyclones are prepared for, educated about, responded to and recovered from in partnership with key agencies
- 3.b.3 Sustainable energy, waste and water management practices are provided and promoted
- 3.b.4 Innovation and resilience of the built form are encouraged, assessed and implemented
- 3.b.5 The protection and valuing of amenities and urban space is enhanced through community engagement
- 3.c.1 Urban and spatial planning is implemented to enhance human interaction with nature and industry
- 3.c.2 The community is surrounded by and has access to attractive natural habitats, built form, parks and amenities
- 3.c.3 Engagement with the community on urban renewal and greening initiatives is enhanced
- 4.b.1 Sound long-term financial planning is implemented
- 4.b.2 Transparent and regular financial reporting and communication to the community is undertaken
- 4.b.3 Transparent and regular governance reporting and communication to the community is undertaken
- 4.b.4 Constructive forums are provided for discussion and the representation of the diversity of views and needs that impact on the Town's developments, programs and policies

Economic

Due to COVID-19 and correlating economic situation, the Town has proposed no increase to rates in the dollar, and fees and charges. The closure of Town facilities due to Covid-19 has impacted the amount of revenue available, however the Town has taken this approach to assist rate payers and local businesses in line with State Government recommendations.

There are no significant identifiable environmental or social impacts relating to this item.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

The following outcomes of the Town's Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2017-2022 apply in relation to this item:

- Outcome 1 Services and Events
- Outcome 2 Buildings and Facilities
- Outcome 7 Employment

Corporate Business Plan

The following actions of the Town's Corporate Business Plan 2018-2022 apply in relation to this item:

• 4.b.2.1 – Ensure the Town's finances are managed efficiently and effectively in line with legislated requirements.

RISK MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

There is a financial risk associated with this item because if the budget is not adopted, the Town will fail to achieve a clear financial position for the 2020/21 financial year. The risk rating is considered to be medium (6), which is determined by a likelihood of unlikely (2) and a consequence of moderate (3). This risk will be eliminated if the budget is fully adopted.

There is a reputational risk associated with this item because if the budget is not adopted, the Town will be delayed in performing specific capital works which are essential but do not currently have an approved budget line item. The risk rating is considered to be medium (9), which is determined by a likelihood of possible (3) and a consequence of moderate (3). This risk will be eliminated if the budget is fully adopted.

There is a service interruption risk associated with this item because a delayed adoption of the 2020/21 budget may impact delivery of the capital works program. Certain projects must consider the wet season during scheduling, with delay in adoption of the budget potentially delaying commencement of works. The risk rating is considered to be medium (6), which is determined by a likelihood of unlikely (2) and a consequence of moderate (3). This risk will be eliminated if the budget is fully adopted.

OPTIONS

Option 1 – Adopt officer's recommendation

Should the Council wish to adopt all officer's recommendations then it can employ the en-bloc method of voting.

Option 2 - Amend officer's recommendation

Should Council decide to amend some of the officer's recommendations then it must do so in accordance with the relevant voting requirements listed under each part of the recommendation.

CONCLUSION

The proposed Municipal 2020/21 budget has been prepared in accordance with the presentations made to Commissioner Fredrick Riebeling AM JP at the various budget workshops over the last several months.

The 2020/21 budget has been prepared in a financially responsible manner with an emphasis on reducing operating expenditure and an increase in renewal of existing assets, whilst considering the uncertainty of Covid-19. The 2020/21 budget will ensure both the current needs of residents are met while at the same time providing infrastructure developments in line with the adopted Strategic Community Plan 2018-2028, adopted Strategic Resource Plan 2019/20-2033/34, and the adopted Corporate Business Plan 2018-2028.

ATTACHMENTS

- 1.
- ToPH 202021 Annual Budget (under separate cover) 2021 Rates Strategy Objects-and-Reasons (under separate cover) 2.

Item 15 Matters for Which Meeting May Be Closed (Confidential Matters)

Nil.

Item 16 Closure

16.1 Date of Next Meeting

The next Ordinary Meeting of Council will be held on Wednesday 22 July 2020 commencing at 5:30pm.

16.2 Closure

There being no further business, the Commissioner declared the meeting closed at 6:25pm.

Page 94

DECLARATION OF CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES

I certify that these Minutes were confirmed by the Council at its Ordinary Council Meeting on 22 July 2020.

CONFIRMATION:

COMMISSIONER

22 JULY 2020 DATED